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EXPLANATORY NOTE

The purpose of this Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A (“Amendment No. 1”) is to include the information required by Items 10 
through 14 of Part III of Form 10-K, which was omitted from FedNat Holding Company’s (the "Company") Annual Report on Form 
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 as filed on April 25, 2022 (the “Original Form 10-K”). Except as expressly set forth 
in this Amendment No. 1, no portion of the Original Form 10-K is being amended or updated by this Amendment No. 1.

Pursuant to Rule 12b-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), Amendment No. 1 also 
contains new certifications of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Because no financial statements are included in Amendment No. 1, and Amendment No. 1 does not 
contain or amend any disclosure with respect to Items 307 or 308 of Regulation S-K promulgated by the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission under the Exchange Act, paragraphs 3, 4 and 5 of the Section 302 certifications have been omitted.  In addition, because 
no financial statements are included in Amendment No. 1, new certifications of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are not required to be included with Amendment No. 1.

PART III

ITEM 10.  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Certain information with respect to our continuing directors and our executive officers as of March 31, 2022 is set forth below:

Name Age Position with Company
Michael H. Braun 54 Chief Executive Officer, President and Director (term expires 2022)
Jenifer G. Kimbrough(1)(2)(4)(5) 50 Director (term expires 2022)
David W. Michelson(1)(2)(4)(5) 64 Director (term expires 2022)
David K. Patterson (2)(3)(4)(5) 69 Director (term expires 2023)
Thomas A. Rogers (4)(5) 70 Director (term expires 2023)
Roberta N. Young (2)(3)(5) 72 Director (term expires 2023)
Bruce F. Simberg (1)(3)(4)(5) 73 Chairman of the Board, Director (term expires 2024)
Ronald A. Jordan 54 Chief Financial Officer

(1) Strategic Review Committee Member
(2) Audit Committee Member
(3) Investment Committee Member
(4) Compensation Committee Member
(5) Nominating Committee Member

Michael H. Braun has served as our Company's Chief Executive Officer since 2008, and its President since 2009. Prior to 
his appointment to CEO, Mr. Braun was our Chief Operating Officer (COO), where he was responsible for all aspects of the 
Company’s operations including underwriting, claims, marketing, and strategic product development. Mr. Braun also serves as 
President of FedNat Insurance Company (FNIC), a subsidiary of FNHC, a role he was appointed to in 2003, and has also been a 
member of the Company's Board of Directors since 2005. Mr. Braun has served as President of Monarch Insurance Company since 
its inception in 2015 and served as President of American Vehicle Insurance Company from 2010 until 2011. Prior to joining the 
Company, Mr. Braun was Managing Partner for an independent insurance brokerage agency group, which was acquired by the 
Company in 1998. As Managing Partner, he held operational, marketing, and business development duties. Mr. Braun holds a B.S. 
from University at Buffalo’s School of Management.

Mr. Braun’s 20-year tenure with the Company, together with his substantial experience in all aspects of insurance company 
operations, including product development, strategy, reinsurance and underwriting, have been critical to the Company’s longevity in 
the homeowners insurance market. 
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Jenifer G. Kimbrough has served as a director of the Company since April 2009, including her membership on the Strategic 
Review Committee and the Board’s standing audit (for which she serves as Chair), compensation and nominating committees. Ms. 
Kimbrough serves as Managing Director, Chief Financial Officer at Oakworth Capital Bank since October 2015, prior to which Ms. 
Kimbrough was the Vice President of Compliance and Audit for Surgical Care Affiliates from March 2010 to October 2015. Prior to 
2010, Ms. Kimbrough served as the Vice President of Assurance and Process Improvement. Prior to 2007, Ms. Kimbrough was the 
Senior Vice President of Investor Relations at Regions Financial Corporation. From 1993 to 2003, Ms. Kimbrough served as an Audit 
Senior Manager at Ernst & Young LLP. Ms. Kimbrough received her certification as a Certified Public Accountant (“CPA”) from the 
Alabama State Board of Public Accountancy in 1994 and obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in Commerce & Business 
Administration (Accounting) from The University of Alabama in 1993. Ms. Kimbrough is a member of several professional societies, 
including Alabama State Society of Certified Public Accountants and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”). 
Additionally, she served on the AICPA Women’s Initiative Executive Committee and as National President of the AWSCPA and 
serves in various volunteer leadership capacities. Ms. Kimbrough does not serve on the board of directors of any other publicly traded 
company.

Ms. Kimbrough brings her significant knowledge in compliance and audit, from both the issuer’s perspective and the 
auditor’s perspective, to the Company and the Board. Ms. Kimbrough is a member of the Board's Strategic Review, Audit, 
Compensation and Nominating Committees (please see "Standing Board Committees" below).

David W. Michelson first joined the Board in August 2019 as a Board observer pending completion of regulatory reviews 
and was elected to the Board at the 2019 Annual Meeting. He serves on the Strategic Review Committee and the Board’s standing 
audit, compensation (for which he serves as Chair) and nominating committees. Mr. Michelson is a 26-year veteran of publicly traded 
specialty property and casualty insurer National Interstate Corporation (“National Interstate”), where he served as President and Chief 
Executive Officer from 2008 until 2016. He also served as a director of National Interstate from 2009 until 2016. During Mr. 
Michelson’s tenure, National Interstate delivered a consistent record of underwriting profitability, which culminated in the company 
being acquired by a global diversified insurance group in 2016. Mr. Michelson is also a member of the board of directors of Protective 
Insurance Corporation, a publicly traded specialty property and casualty insurer focused on the commercial automobile insurance 
market. Prior to National Interstate, Mr. Michelson was responsible for all P&C business at Torchmark Corporation, which included a 
portfolio of personal property products in the Southeastern U.S.

Mr. Michelson brings his C-suite experience with a publicly traded specialty property and casualty insurer to the Company 
and the Board. Mr. Michelson is a member of the Board's Strategic Review, Audit, Compensation and Nominating Committees (please 
see "Standing Board Committees" below.

David K. Patterson first joined the Board in August 2019 as a Board observer pending completion of regulatory reviews and 
was elected to the Board at the 2019 Annual Meeting. Mr. Patterson brings to the Board his more than 40 years of operational and 
executive leadership experience in the property and casualty insurance industry. Most recently he was Chairman and President of ESIS, 
Inc. (“ESIS”), the risk management services subsidiary of Ace Limited (now Chubb Limited), which he joined in 2004 and for which 
he served as President and Chairman from 2005 to 2015. Prior to joining ESIS, Mr. Patterson was the President and Chief Executive 
Officer of Kemper National Services, Inc., a claims service organization serving the property and casualty insurance operations of 
Kemper National, from 1994 to 2003. While at Kemper, Mr. Patterson served in a variety of regional and home office senior 
leadership roles in claims, systems and operations.

Mr. Patterson brings his extensive experience with risk management and claims management to the Company and the Board. 
Mr. Patterson is a member of the Board’s Audit, Investment, Compensation and Nominating Committees (please see “Standing Board 
Committees” below).

Thomas A. Rogers has served as a director of the Company since October 2015. Mr. Rogers has more than 40 years’ 
experience in the reinsurance industry, including 22 years serving in senior executive officer positions with Aon Benfield Inc. until his 
retirement in 2014 as its Vice Chairman. Prior to Aon Benfield, Mr. Rogers spent 18 years with both reinsurance underwriting and 
intermediary companies and specialized in the development and management of specialized property and casualty lines. Mr. Rogers 
received his Bachelor of Science degree from Drexel University. Mr. Rogers does not serve on the board of directors of any other SEC 
reporting company.

Mr. Rogers’ significant knowledge of reinsurance underwriting, including day-to-day insurance operations, and in specialized 
property and casualty lines provides the Board with expertise that is highly relevant to the Company’s current operations and beneficial 
in connection with possible future expansion of the Company’s business lines. Mr. Rogers is a member of the Board’s Compensation 
and Nominating Committees (please see “Standing Board Committees” below).
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Roberta N. Young has served as a director of the Company since September 2017. Mrs. Young brings to the Board with 
more than 40 years’ experience as a CPA and licensed in both Florida and Texas. She has extensive experience in auditing many 
different types of companies, including SEC companies and insurance companies and in tax preparation and consulting. Most recently, 
Mrs. Young was a director of tax at BDO USA, LLP (“BDO”) from August 2016 to May 2017. Mrs. Young currently provides tax and 
consulting services to individuals and companies in South Florida. She was a partner of Goldstein Schechter Koch, CPAs (“GSK”), 
from 2014 until BDO acquired GSK in August 2016. She started her career in Florida with De Meo, Young McGrath in 1988 
becoming partner in 1992 and was managing partner for 4 years. The firm merged with GSK in 2014. Mrs. Young does not serve on 
the board of directors of any other SEC reporting company.

Mrs. Young’s more than 40 years of experience in accounting and auditing, including in particular for public companies in the 
insurance industry, provides the Board with another expert in accounting, auditing and financial reporting. Mrs. Young is a member of 
the Board’s Audit and Nominating Committees and she also serves as Chair of the Investment Committee (please see “Standing Board 
Committees” below).

Bruce F. Simberg rejoined the Board in January 2016, and serves as Board Chair, after serving as a director of the Company 
also from January 1998 to March 2015. Mr. Simberg has been a practicing attorney since October 1975, most recently as managing 
partner of Conroy Simberg, P.A. (“Conroy Simberg”), a law firm in Hollywood, Florida, since October 1979. At Conroy Simberg, one 
of the most well- known insurance defense law firms in Florida with more than 150 lawyers, Mr. Simberg is responsible for directing 
the firm’s liability department, including its homeowners’ and first party property and coverage practices. Mr. Simberg has been 
actively involved in the Board’s committees, including the Board’s standing Compensation, Nominating and Investment committees 
and serves as Chair of the Board’s Strategic Review Committee. Mr. Simberg received his Bachelor of Science degree from Emory 
University and his Juris Doctor from the University of Miami. Mr. Simberg does not serve on the board of directors of any other SEC 
reporting company.

Mr. Simberg has significant historical knowledge and understanding of the Company’s development, as well as significant 
experience in insurance-related and other litigation and risk assessment matters. Mr. Simberg is a member of the Board's Strategic 
Review, Investment, Compensation and Nominating Committees (please see "Standing Board Committees" below).

Ronald A. Jordan was appointed as Chief Financial Officer of the Company in April 2017. Mr. Jordan brings to the 
Company more than 25 years’ experience in accounting and financial reporting, including most recently as Chief Accounting Officer of 
Hatteras Financial Corp., a mortgage real estate investment trust based in Winston-Salem, North Carolina, from 2013 to 2016. Prior to 
that position, Mr. Jordan held various positions at Lincoln Financial Group from 2003 to 2012, including Senior Vice President, 
Financial Planning and Strategic Initiatives, from 2011 to 2012, Vice President and General Auditor from 2006 to 2011, and Vice 
President and Controller from 2003 to 2006. From 1996 to 2003, Mr. Jordan held positions in financial reporting and accounting at 
Jefferson Pilot Corporation, CNA Insurance, and Bankers Life & Casualty. Mr. Jordan began his career at Arthur Andersen, LLP from 
1989 to 1996. Mr. Jordan is a CPA and Certified Internal Auditor (inactive), and received his Bachelor of Business Administration 
degree in accounting, with high distinction, from the University of Michigan.

Corporate Governance 

Our Board remains focused on our Company's corporate governance in order to assure strong Board accountability and 
effective shareholder rights policies. Our Board takes into account feedback received from shareholders and others regarding its 
corporate governance and executive compensation practices. With that feedback in mind, we have maintained our previously updated 
executive compensation practices, as described more fully below under the caption “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” and our 
corporate governance practices, as described below:

◦ Currently, six of our seven directors are independent. 

◦ The Board continues to separate the roles of Board Chair and Chief Executive Officer.

◦ The Company’s Bylaws provide for a majority voting standard for uncontested elections of directors.

◦ Our shareholder vote on executive compensation (“say-on-pay”) occurs annually.

◦ The Company’s Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws provide that the shareholder vote required to amend certain 

provisions is a majority of shares outstanding.
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◦ The Company’s Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws provide that the percentage of shares required to call a special 

meeting is 25%.

◦ We maintain stock ownership and retention guidelines applicable to our directors, as well as our Chief Executive 

Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Under these guidelines, our outside, non- employee directors are each required 

to hold shares of the Company’s common stock with a value of at least four times their annual retainer. The 

guidelines further provide that the outside directors should achieve the guideline amounts within five years of the 

policy’s adoption and, until the guideline amounts are achieved, our directors must retain 66-2/3% of any shares 

received as equity grants from the Company, net of shares withheld or sold to pay taxes.

◦ The Board prohibits directors and executive officers from hedging or pledging the Company’s common stock, 

without exception.

◦ The Board maintains corporate governance guidelines, which memorialize the corporate governance practices 

followed by the Board and the Company.

◦ The Company’s 2018 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (the "Omnibus Incentive Plan") prohibits option 

repricing and requires that grants have a required minimum of one year vesting. 

◦ The Board adopted the most restrictive definition of “independence” when appointing the members of its 

Compensation and Nominating committees.

The Board believes that these governance practices represent a meaningful alignment of its corporate governance practices 
with the interests of its shareholders and current best practices, and reflect the feedback that the Board has received through its 
ongoing shareholder outreach efforts. As is our standard practice, we will continue to engage with our shareholders and will take 
feedback we receive from them into account as we evolve our corporate governance practices according to the needs of our business.

Leadership Structure

The Board Chair is elected by the members of the Board and typically presides at all meetings of the Board. Bruce F. Simberg 
currently serves as our Board Chair, a position he has held since 1998 other than the period from March 2015 to January 2016. The 
responsibilities of the Company’s Board Chair are: (i) presiding at all meetings, including presiding at executive sessions of the Board 
(without management present) at every regularly scheduled Board meeting, (ii) serving as a liaison between management and the 
independent directors, (iii) providing input regarding meeting agendas, time schedules and other information provided to the Board, 
and (iv) being available for direct communication and consultation with major shareholders. Our Board Chair also has the authority to 
call meetings of the independent directors. The Chief Executive Officer is the only member of management on the Board.

Board Composition

The Company believes that its Board as a whole should encompass a diverse range of talents, skills, perspectives, experiences, 
and tenure on the Board, enabling the Board to provide sound guidance with respect to the Company's operations and interests. Our 
Board currently includes directors with tenure on the Board ranging from two and a half years to 23 years, with four of our directors 
having joined the Board within the past seven years. Two of our directors are female. Our directors have a range of relevant 
experience, from hands on management experience in the insurance industry to insurance brokerage to audit and financial accounting. 
In addition, the Company's policy has been that at least a majority of its directors must qualify as independent under the continued 
listing rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market (the “Nasdaq Rules”); in recent years, all of the directors except for the Chief Executive 
Officer have been independent as defined in the Nasdaq Rules.

 The Nominating Committee identifies candidates for election to the Board of Directors; reviews their skills, characteristics 
and experience; and recommends nominees for director to the Board for approval. The Nominating Committee's Charter provides 

-3- 



that the Board of Directors as a whole should be balanced and diverse, and consist of individuals with various and relevant career 
experience, relevant technical skills, industry knowledge and experience, financial expertise and local or community ties. Minimum 
individual requirements include strength of character, mature judgment, familiarity with the Company's business and industry, 
independence of thought and an ability to work collegially. The Board believes that the qualifications of the directors, as set forth in 
their biographies above provide them with the qualifications and skills to serve as a director of our Company.

Board Self-Assessment Process

The Board believes that ongoing self-assessment is important to strengthening its performance and fulfilling its role on behalf 
of the Company’s shareholders. To that end, the Board conducts an annual evaluation process that begins by asking each Board 
member to complete a comprehensive evaluation form that addresses the Board’s overall performance and a self-evaluation of the 
individual director’s performance. Overall Board performance is evaluated based on, among other things, the conduct of Board 
meetings, the composition of the Board, the quality of information provided to the Board, Board effectiveness, and access to 
management. Individual performance is evaluated to determine, among other things, whether the director continues to be able to 
devote the necessary time to Board and committee matters, whether the director’s skills are best utilized, and whether the director 
contributes to Board decision making. In addition, the Audit Committee conducts an annual evaluation of its performance, including a 
review of the effectiveness of its processes, the composition of the Committee, the Committee’s interactions with management and 
the Company’s auditors, and the Committee members’ understanding of the Company’s risks, controls and compliance. These 
evaluation forms are reviewed by the Board Chair or the Audit Committee Chair, and by the entire Board or Audit Committee, and are 
discussed in detail at a Board or Audit Committee meeting, as applicable.

Board Continuing Education

The Company encourages its directors to remain current in corporate governance, compliance and industry topics facing 
publicly traded insurance companies such as the Company. In that regard, the Company provides directors with the opportunity to 
attend seminars and conferences on director education, board leadership, current issues facing the insurance industry generally and the 
Florida and coastal insurance markets in particular, governance, risk management and other subjects of interest to Board members and 
relevant to the Company. Certain of our directors also obtain significant continuing education relevant to the Company in connection 
with their professional licenses and certifications in accounting, finance and law.

Corporate Governance Guidelines

The Board has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines, which memorialize the corporate governance practices followed 
by the Board and the Company. Among other things, the guidelines address the following matters relating to the Board and its 
committees:

◦ Director qualifications generally and guidelines on the composition of the Board and its committees;

◦ Director responsibilities and the standards for carrying out such responsibilities;

◦ Board membership criteria;

◦ Board committee requirements;

◦ Director compensation;

◦ Director access to management and independent advisors;

◦ Director orientation and continuing education requirements; and

◦ Chief Executive Officer evaluation, management succession and Chief Executive Officer compensation.

The Corporate Governance Guidelines are reviewed at least annually by the Board.

Risk Oversight

The Board’s role in connection with risk oversight is to oversee and monitor the management of risk practiced by the 
Company’s management in the performance of their duties. The Board does this in a number of ways, principally through the 
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oversight responsibility of committees of the Board, but also as part of the strategic planning process. For example, our Audit 
Committee oversees management of risks related to accounting, auditing and financial reporting, maintaining effective internal 
controls over financial reporting, and information security and technology risks. Our Nominating Committee oversees risk associated 
with corporate governance and the Company’s code of conduct, including compliance with listing standards for independent directors 
and conflicts of interest. Our Compensation Committee oversees the risk related to our executive compensation plans and 
arrangements and is responsible for reviewing and recommending our non-employee director compensation plans and arrangements. 
Our Investment Committee oversees the risks related to managing our investment portfolio. The full Board receives reports on a 
regular basis regarding each committee’s oversight from each committee chair when reporting on their committee’s actions at regular 
Board meetings, as well as overseeing the development and implementation of strategic initiatives.

COVID-19 Response

Together with our management, our Board of Directors identified the extraordinary nature of the COVID-19 pandemic and 
the likelihood it would impact the overall economy, the insurance industry and our insureds, and the way in which we conduct our 
business. Our longstanding policies have permitted remote work for eligible employees; therefore, we were able to transition quickly to 
a fully remote working environment. Our Board of Directors has been monitoring and overseeing our management’s response to the 
pandemic, including our personnel safety guidelines, cybersecurity protocols and customer service levels. Our management and Board 
of Directors are continuing to oversee our responses as the pandemic and its impact continue into 2022.

Meetings of the Board and Committees

During 2021, the Board of Directors held 10 regular meetings, seven special meetings and took actions by written consent on 
three occasions. During 2021, no director attended fewer than 94% of the Board and committee meetings held during this period. The 
Board of Directors encourages, but does not require, its directors to attend the Company’s Annual Meeting. All of our directors 
attended our 2021 Annual Meeting.

Board Independence

The Board has determined that all of its directors and director candidates are independent pursuant to the Nasdaq Rules, 
with the exception of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. The Board has also used the stricter definition of “independence” 
utilized by shareholder advisory services in determining the members of the Compensation and Nominating committees since 2017. 

The independent directors of the Board regularly meet in executive sessions without management present. These sessions, 
which generally occur at every regularly scheduled Board meeting, are led by the Board Chair. Executive sessions allow the 
independent directors to discuss, among other issues, management performance and compensation.

To facilitate the Board’s oversight functions and to take advantage of the knowledge and experience of its members, the 
Board has created several standing committees. These committees, the Audit, Investment, Nominating and Compensation committees, 
allow regular risk oversight and monitoring, and deeper analysis of issues before the Board. The Audit, Compensation, Investment and 
Nominating committees are composed exclusively of independent directors. The membership of the standing committees is reviewed 
from time to time, and specific committee assignments are proposed and appointed by the Board. Each committee holds regularly 
scheduled meetings and confers between regularly scheduled meetings as needed.

Charters for the Audit, Compensation and Nominating committees, and the Corporate Governance Guidelines, are available 
upon the Company’s website at www.FedNat.com and are also available in print to any shareholder upon request from our Corporate 
Secretary.

In addition, in October 2020, the Board established the Strategic Review Committee, which is discussed further below.

Standing Board Committees

Audit Committee. As of December 31, 2021, the Audit Committee was composed of Jenifer G. Kimbrough, who served as 
the Audit Committee Chair, David W. Michelson, David K. Patterson and Roberta N. Young. Each member was determined to be 
“independent” as defined under the Nasdaq Rules applicable to the Company and SEC rules for Audit Committee membership. Ms. 
Kimbrough and Mrs. Young, who are Certified Public Accountants, were designated as “financial experts” as that term is defined in 
the applicable rules and regulations of the Exchange Act based on their understanding of U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
(“GAAP”) and financial statements; their ability to assess the general application of GAAP in connection with the accounting for 
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estimates, accruals and reserves; their experience preparing, auditing, analyzing and evaluating financial statements that present a 
breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of issues that can 
reasonably be expected to be raised by the Company’s financial statements, or experience actively supervising one or more persons 
engaged in such activities; their understanding of internal controls and procedures for financial reporting; and their understanding of 
audit committee functions. The Audit Committee held four regular meetings in fiscal 2021 and two special meetings. 

Pursuant to its written charter, the duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee include, but are not limited to, (a) the 
appointment of the independent certified public accountants and any termination of such engagement, (b) reviewing the plan and 
scope of independent audits, (c) reviewing significant accounting and reporting policies and operating controls, (d) having general 
responsibility for all related auditing and financial statement matters, and (e) reporting its recommendations and findings to the full 
Board of Directors. The Audit Committee pre-approves all auditing services and permitted non-audit services (including the fees and 
terms thereof) to be performed by the independent accountants, subject to the de minimis exceptions for non-audit services described in 
Section 10A(i)(1)(B) of the Exchange Act that are approved by the Audit Committee prior to the completion of the audit.

To ensure prompt handling of unexpected matters, the Audit Committee delegates to the Audit Committee Chair the 
authority to amend or modify the list of approved permissible non-audit services and fees. The Audit Committee Chair will report 
action taken to the Audit Committee at the next committee meeting. The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for tracking all 
independent auditor fees against the budget for such services and reports at least annually to the Audit Committee.

Compensation Committee. As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s Compensation Committee was composed of Jenifer G. 
Kimbrough, David W. Michelson, David K. Patterson, Thomas A. Rogers and Bruce F. Simberg. Each member is independent as 
defined by the Nasdaq Rules. The Compensation Committee performs the duties and responsibilities pursuant to its charter, which 
includes reviewing and approving the compensation of the Company's executive officers. Mr. Michelson serves as the Compensation 
Committee Chair. During fiscal 2021, the Compensation Committee held five regular meetings and seven special meetings. 

The Compensation Committee has worked with compensation and governance consultants in prior years to assist the Board 
in updating the Company’s corporate governance practices generally, assist with a review and update of the Company’s executive 
compensation practices, and assist with the Company’s shareholder engagement program. The Compensation Committee also 
regularly reviews internally compiled data about the compensation practices of our competitors. For the 2021 fiscal year, the Company 
engaged the firm of MacKenzie Partners to assist the Board with research related to executive compensation practices and our peers, 
and assist with the Company’s shareholder engagement program. MacKenzie Partners also provided proxy solicitation services to the 
Company.

Nominating Committee. As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s Nominating Committee was composed of Jenifer G. 
Kimbrough, David W. Michelson, David K. Patterson, Thomas A. Rogers, Bruce F. Simberg and Roberta N. Young. Mr. Simberg 
serves as the Nominating Committee Chair. Each member is independent as defined by the Nasdaq Rules. During fiscal 2021, the 
Nominating Committee held one regular meeting.

The Nominating Committee continues to identify qualified candidates for director positions. In recommending proposed 
nominees to the full Board, the Nominating Committee is charged with building and maintaining a Board that has a mix of talent, 
experience and perspectives to achieve the Company’s business objectives. The Nominating Committee considers all aspects of a 
candidate’s qualifications with a view to creating a Board with a diversity of qualifications, qualities and skills, as well as diversity of 
gender and race. Qualities also considered important by the Nominating Committee when assessing director candidates include 
strength of character, mature judgment, familiarity with the Company’s business and industry, independence of thought and an ability 
to work collegially. 

The Nominating Committee will consider candidates for director who are recommended by its members, by other Board 
members and by management of the Company and who have the experience and skill set best suited to benefit the Company and its 
shareholders. The Nominating Committee will consider nominees recommended by our shareholders if the shareholder submits the 
nomination in compliance with the advance notice, information and other requirements described in our Bylaws and applicable 
securities laws. The Nominating Committee evaluates director candidates recommended by shareholders in the same way that it 
evaluates candidates recommended by its members, other members of the Board, or other persons.

Shareholders who wish to recommend nominees to the Nominating Committee should submit their recommendation in 
writing to the Secretary of the Company at its executive offices pursuant to the requirements contained in Article III, Section 13 of the 
Company’s Bylaws. This section provides that the notice shall include: (a) as to each person who the shareholder proposed to 
nominate for election, (i) name, age, business address and residence address of the person, (ii) the principal occupation or employment 

-6- 



of the person, (iii) the class and number of shares of capital stock of the Company which are beneficially owned by the person, (iv) the 
consent of each nominee to serve as a director of the Company if so elected and (v) any other information relating to the person that 
is required to be disclosed in solicitation for proxies for the election of directors pursuant to Rule 14A under the Exchange Act; and 
(b) as to the shareholder giving the notice, (i) the name and record address of the shareholder, and (ii) the class and number of shares 
of capital stock of the Company which are beneficially owned by the shareholder. The Company may require any proposed nominee 
to furnish such other information as may reasonably be required by the Company to determine the eligibility of such proposed 
nominee to serve as a director of the Company. To be timely, a shareholder’s notice shall be delivered to or mailed and received at the 
Company’s principal executive offices not less than 60 days nor more than 90 days prior to the meeting. If we give less than 70 days’ 
notice or prior public disclosure of the date of the meeting date, however, notice by the shareholder to be timely must be so received 
not later than the close of business on the tenth day following either the date we publicly announce the date of our annual meeting or 
the date of mailing of the notice of the meeting, whichever first occurs.

Investment Committee. As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s Investment Committee was composed of David K. 
Patterson, Bruce F. Simberg and Roberta N. Young. The Investment Committee manages our investment portfolio through its 
oversight of third-party asset management firms, pursuant to its adopted Investment Policy Statement. Ms. Young serves as the 
Investment Committee Chair. During fiscal 2021, the Investment Committee held four regular meetings. 

Strategic Review Committee. In October 2020, the Board established a Strategic Review Committee, and appointed Bruce F. 
Simberg, Jenifer G. Kimbrough and David W. Michelson to serve as its members. The Strategic Review Committee has been charged 
with overseeing a review of the Company’s business plan, capital deployment, geographic footprint and long-term strategy to identify 
strategic alternatives in an effort to create enhanced value for the Company’s stakeholders, in particular its shareholders. These 
strategic alternatives are not limited in their scope and could include, among other things, changes in the Company’s strategy or 
operations, a strategic business combination or other possible transaction involving the Company, or continuing to execute on the 
Company’s current business plan. This Committee has generally met at least weekly and more often as appropriate since its inception.  
Beginning in August 2021, the Committee has enlisted the assistance of Steven Hale, the Company’s largest shareholder, as an advisor 
to the Committee.

Code of Conduct

We have adopted a Code of Conduct for all employees, officers and directors of the Company. A copy of our Code of 
Conduct is available on our web site at www.FedNat.com.

ITEM 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

The following Compensation Discussion and Analysis describes the components and objectives of the Company’s executive 
compensation program for fiscal 2021 for our “Named Executive Officers,” describes the process through which the decisions 
regarding executive compensation have been made, and describes the results of this decision-making process. Our Named Executive 
Officers for fiscal 2021 were our Chief Executive Officer and President, our Chief Financial Officer and our Chief Operating Officer. 
The following Compensation Discussion and Analysis reflects the compensation paid to our Named Executive Officers for fiscal 2021 
and the Compensation Committee’s decisions with respect to the compensation for fiscal 2022 for the Named Executive Officers.

Philosophy of the Company’s Executive Compensation Programs

The Compensation Committee of the Board is responsible for establishing, implementing and monitoring adherence to the 
Company’s compensation philosophy and oversees our compensation programs for our Named Executive Officers. With respect to 
executive compensation, the Compensation Committee’s primary goals are to attract and retain the most qualified, knowledgeable, 
dedicated and seasoned executives possible; provide challenging but attainable goals by which to measure performance; reward them 
for their contributions to the development of the Company’s business; and align the executives’ compensation and incentives with the 
Company’s performance and the interests of our shareholders. The Compensation Committee also endeavors, while compensating our 
Named Executive Officers for their performance, to structure the Company’s compensation programs so as to not encourage 
unnecessary or excessive risk-taking. The Compensation Committee believes that crafting incentives so as to not encourage 
unnecessary or excessive risk taking is especially important in the homeowners insurance industry in the Company’s home state of 
Florida. Finally, the Compensation Committee considers the potential impact of the current and expected economic environment in 
which the Company operates on the Company's ability to achieve the performance goals.
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The Compensation Committee is committed to ensuring our compensation programs are strongly aligned with the 
Company’s long-term business strategy. The Committee seeks to continuously and rigorously evaluate its compensation plans to 
reflect strong governance practices and shareholder feedback.

  What We Do   What We Do Not Do

ü Incorporate long-term performance-based criteria in the 
equity awards to our Chief Executive Officer, with the 
result that a significant portion of our Chief Executive 
Officer's incentive compensation is subject to measurable 
financial objectives.

x No change-in-control excise tax gross-ups.
 

ü Include objective financial metrics in both the short-term 
and long-term components of our incentive compensation 
plan.

x No grants of equity to our directors or management team 
at a price per share less than book value per share.

ü Maintain a clawback policy that allows for the recovery of 
previously paid incentive compensation in the event of a 
restatement of our financial statements.

x No tax gross-ups on perquisites.
 

ü Maintain rigorous stock ownership and retention 
guidelines for our executive officers and directors.

x No excessive perquisites.
 

ü Continue a robust shareholder outreach program to solicit 
investor feedback on compensation plan design and 
disclosure, which we will continue in connection with this 
Annual Meeting.

x No hedging or pledging of the Company’s common stock.
 

ü Require a "double trigger" for change-in-control payments 
to our Named Executive Officers, meaning that payments 
will not be triggered without a qualifying termination 
following a change in control, and to provide that any 
such change in control payment would be based on the 
average of the preceding three years' actual bonuses 
earned.

x No option repricing or repurchases of underwater options 
without shareholder approval.
 

The Company’s 2021 Performance

As an industry, the Florida property insurance industry lost over $1.5 billion in 2021 and over $1.6 billion in 2020, driven by 
catastrophe losses, higher catastrophe reinsurance costs, and an adverse claims environment stemming in large part from litigation 
abuse and other forms of social inflation of claim costs. The Company’s financial results for 2021 reflect the impact of an elevated 
number of severe weather events, including seven named storms that made landfall in the U.S. The total impact of 2021 catastrophe 
losses on the Company was over $800 million on a gross basis, which was reduced to $86 million, pre-tax, net of amounts ceded to our 
reinsurance partners and other recoveries including related claims handling revenues. Over 80% of these net catastrophe losses 
stemmed from the Company’s non-Florida books of business, despite those books representing less than 40% of our gross written 
premium. The Company is taking action to reduce its exposure to catastrophe losses and earnings volatility by implementing a strategy 
to exit the non-Florida markets and re-focus on our Florida operations, where our approved rates have increased substantially, and 
where recent legislative actions have begun to improve the claims litigation environment. The Company also is taking action to 
improve the results of its Florida book, including proactively increasing rates, further tightening underwriting standards, and 
controlling expenses. The Company’s responses to the challenges faced in 2021included the following:

• As of the 2021 year end, we maintained an appropriate capital position in our three insurance carriers, while conserving 
liquidity at the holding company, ending the year with risk-based capital ratios in excess of 300% in our insurance carriers and 
$40 million of liquidity at the holding company.

• During 2021, we implemented rate increases in our Florida book to improve that represent over $80 million of potential 
incremental gross earned premium in 2021 as compared to 2020, assuming no change to our underlying book of business.

• We executed a rigorous exposure management strategy that reduced total insured value and policy counts by 18% and 22%, 
respectively, with only a 3% decline in gross written premium.
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• We successfully navigated disruption to the U.S. economy and to our own operations by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.

• During 2021, we carefully managed our investment portfolio in response to capital market implications from the COVID-19 
pandemic, and did not experience any credit losses in the portfolio.

• Our Board of Directors continued its efforts via a Strategic Review Committee to oversee a review of the Company’s 
business plan, capital deployment, geographic footprint and long-term strategy in order to identify strategic alternatives in an 
effort to preserve value for our stakeholders.

Results of Our Evaluations

The following table summarizes the Compensation Committee’s compensation decisions for 2021 for our Named Executive 
Officers, consistent with how the Compensation Committee views total compensation. This table reflects both the “Target” bonus 
amounts as approved by the Compensation Committee and the actual achievement thereof (as detailed in the footnotes to the table). 
The Compensation Committee reached its compensation decisions based on its evaluation of the Company's performance relative to 
the incentive criteria established at the beginning of 2021, while taking into account actual progress made toward important Company 
initiatives and the impact of the continued elevated level of severe weather. For comparative purposes, the table also presents 2020 and 
2019 compensation decisions for our Named Executive Officers. While the table below summarizes how the Compensation 
Committee views compensation, it is not a substitute for the tables and disclosures required by the SEC’s rules, which are included 
below. Further detail on how individual pay decisions were made and descriptions of the elements of compensation can be found 
following this table.

When determining the number of shares that a given dollar-denominated grant represents, the Company follows the practice 
of flooring the per-share value at book value per share, if the grant date share price is less than book value per share. This has the 
effect of reducing the number of shares granted for grants that occur when book value per share exceeds the actual share price. 
Herein, we refer to the grant value computed on the basis of the greater of the share price or book value per shares as the “ascribed 
value.” In the table that follows, for performance-based grants and time vested awards that are granted on a dollar-denominated basis, 
both the target and actual amounts are presented on the basis of ascribed value. Time-vesting awards that are defined based a specific 
share count are valued using the grant date share price. The column labeled “Equity Awards at Grant Date Fair Value” presents all 
share grants on the basis of the grant date share price, and is useful for reconciling the table below with the tables and disclosures 
required by the SEC rules, later in this document.

 
 
Named 
Executive 
Officer

 
 

Year
Base Salary

Rate

Annual Incentive and 
Other Cash Awards

Long-Term Incentive 
and Other Share-Based 

Awards Total Compensation Equity 
Awards

 at Grant 
Date Fair 

ValueTarget Actual Target
Actual-to-

Date Target
Actual-to-

Date
Michael H. 
Braun,
Chief 
Executive 
Officer and 
President 
(1)

2021
$ 1,000,000 $ 500,000 $ — $ 500,000 $ — $ 2,000,000 $ 1,000,000 $ 252,016 

2020
 1,000,000  500,000  —  1,500,000  591,000  3,000,000  1,591,000  897,082 

2019
 1,000,000  1,050,000  —  700,000  —  2,750,000  1,000,000  699,997 

Ronald A. 
Jordan,
Chief 
Financial 
Officer (2)

2021
 350,000  175,000  100,000  175,000  5,300  700,000  455,300  93,506 

2020  350,000  210,000  50,000  140,000  11,575  700,000  411,575  107,494 
2019  325,000  195,000  100,000  130,000  34,254  650,000  459,254  164,251 

Patrick 
McCahill, 
Chief 
Operating 
Officer (3)

2021
 350,000  100,000  —  100,000  —  550,000  350,000  50,402 

2020  350,000  —  145,000  —  11,575  350,000  506,575  11,575 
2019  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

-9- 



(1) No annual incentive award was paid to Mr. Braun for 2021, 2020 or 2019. The 2021 long-term incentive award of 54,431 
shares of restricted stock (at Target payout level) was granted in 2021 for performance-based goals to be met over a three-
year period from 2021 to 2023. Such goals were not met in 2021, resulting in the forfeiture to date of 18,144 shares (or 
$167,000 based on the grant date ascribed value) from this grant. The 2020 long-term incentive award of 28,985 shares of 
restricted stock (at Target payout level) was granted in 2020 for performance-based goals to be met over a three-year period 
from 2020 to 2022. Such goals were not met in 2020 and 2021, resulting in the forfeiture to date of 19,324 shares (or 
$333,000 based on the grant date ascribed value) from this grant. In recognition of certain accomplishments along with a 
desire to maintain long-term compensation alignment between the Company and the CEO, Mr. Braun was granted 50,000 
shares of restricted stock (or $591,000 based on the grant date share price) in 2020 that time-vest over five years. The 2019 
long-term incentive award of 38,824 shares of restricted stock (at Target payout level) was granted in 2019 for performance-
based goals to be met over a three-year period from 2019 to 2021. Such goals were not met in 2019, 2020 and 2021, resulting 
in the forfeiture of 38,824 shares (or $700,000 based on the grant date ascribed value) from this grant. 

(2) No annual incentive award was paid to Mr. Jordan for 2021, 2020 or 2019. The 2021 long-term incentive award of 19,052 
shares of restricted stock (at Target payout level) was granted in 2021 for performance-based goals to be met over a three-
year period from 2021 to 2023. Such goals were not met in 2021, resulting in the forfeiture to date of 6,351 shares (or 
$58,000 based on the grant date ascribed value) from this grant. Mr. Jordan was granted 10,000 shares of restricted stock (or 
$5,000 based on the grant date share price) in 2022 that time-vest over 5 years. The 2020 long-term incentive award of 8,115 
shares of restricted stock (at Target payout level) was granted in 2020 for performance-based goals to be met over a three-
year period from 2020 to 2022. Such goals were not met in 2020 and 2021, resulting in the forfeiture to date of 5,410 shares 
(or $93,000 based on the grant date ascribed value) from this grant. In recognition of the successful integration of the Maison 
Companies, the execution of the quota-share treaty on FNIC's non-Florida book of business and other achievements, in 
March 2021, Mr. Jordan received a cash bonus of $50,000 and a grant of 2,500 shares of restricted stock (or $12,000 based on 
the grant date share price) that time-vest over five years. The 2019 long-term incentive award of 7,210 shares of restricted 
stock (at Target payout level) was granted in 2019 for performance-based goals to be met over a three-year period from 2019 
to 2021. Such goals were not met in 2019, 2020 and 2021, resulting in the forfeiture to date of 7,210 shares (or $130,000 
based on the grant date ascribed value) from this grant. In recognition of the successful execution of the acquisition of the 
Maison Companies and other achievements during 2019, in March 2020, Mr. Jordan received a cash bonus of $100,000 and a 
grant of 2,898 shares of restricted stock (or $34,000 based on the grant date share price) that will vest over five years.

(3) No annual incentive award for 2021 was paid to Mr. McCahill, who resigned his position with the Company effective 
December 31, 2021. The 2021 long-term incentive award of 10,886 shares of restricted stock (at Target payout level) was 
granted in 2021 for performance-based goals to be met over a three-year period from 2021 to 2023 was forfeited. Mr. 
McCahill joined the Company in September 2020 and was not a participant in the 2020 incentive compensation plan. He 
received a cash sign-on bonus of $100,000 upon joining the Company. The 2020 cash bonus paid in March 2021 ($45,000) 
was pursuant to the terms of Mr. McCahill’s offer letter. In recognition of Mr. McCahill’s contributions to operational and 
expense efficiencies and other achievements, in March 2021, Mr. McCahill received a grant of 2,500 shares of restricted stock 
(or $12,000 based on the grant date share price) that time-vest over five years, all of which were forfeited due to his 
departure.

Realized Pay and Pay-for-Performance Alignment

We design our compensation program so that a substantial portion of our Chief Executive Officer’s pay is “at-risk,” meaning 
that the amount he may actually receive in any given year is dependent upon our stock price performance and achievement of other 
objective financial goals. As a result, we believe that Mr. Braun’s compensation correlates strongly to the Company’s financial 
performance.

The compensation reported in our Summary Compensation Table each year reflects the accounting value of our long-term 
awards, which is calculated based on potential outcomes, and does not necessarily represent the value our CEO ultimately realizes 
from those awards. Similarly, our CEO’s annual incentive award may pay out at levels more or less than the target depending on 
whether certain financial goals are met. 
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Because Mr. Braun’s compensation is variable from year to year, we believe that it is useful to compare his “Realized Pay” for 
the 2019, 2020 and 2021 fiscal years with his “Target” pay over the same period, as illustrated by the chart below:

For purposes of this chart, we define:

• “Target” pay as the compensation that Mr. Braun would receive if annual incentive awards are earned and long-term 
incentive awards vest at target levels, excluding “All Other Compensation” (which includes matching contributions to the 
Company’s 401(k) plan and other secondary benefits); and

• “Realized Pay” as the sum of (i) actual base salary received, plus (ii) actual annual incentive compensation earned (if any), plus 
(iii) the market value of time-based restricted stock granted (if any), plus (iv) the vest date market value of performance-based 
restricted stock that vested (if any), during the applicable year.

Shareholder Outreach and “Say-on-Pay”

In our 2021 advisory shareholder vote on executive compensation, our say-on-pay proposal received the affirmative vote of 
73.69% of the shares voted on the proposal. In response to this vote result, the Compensation Committee undertook a holistic review 
of our executive compensation plan designs, taking into consideration feedback from our engagement with shareholders. These efforts 
are designed to better understand and address investor objectives and concerns, while continuing to evolve our compensation practices 
in a way that both meets the Board’s compensation goals and benefits our shareholders.  Specifically, the Compensation Committee 
made several modifications to our incentive plan designs for fiscal 2022. The Committee believes that this revised approach is well 
aligned with our objectives of attracting, retaining, and motivating our senior executive team going forward. These incentive plan 
changes are further summarized below in “Changes for 2022 Plan.”  The Compensation Committee will continue to consider the 
outcome of the annual say-on-pay proposal when making future compensation decisions for our executives. Further, we will continue 
to actively engage with stockholders as needed to receive their feedback. Overall, we believe the positive input received through our 
engagement efforts confirm the structural soundness of our executive compensation program.

We value shareholder feedback and facilitate and encourage extensive annual shareholder interaction. In recent years, we have 
regularly engaged with our shareholders to seek their feedback on our strategy, executive compensation, and corporate governance 
practices. In the first quarter of 2022, we have contacted the Company’s top 25 shareholders, representing 44% of our outstanding 
common stock. The Company plans to maintain accessibility with all of our shareholders and proactively facilitate dialogue with our 
largest shareholders including a variety of topics, such as company performance and strategy, environmental, social and governance 
issues, diversity and inclusion, our compensation philosophy, the Board’s oversight of risk management, and other matters. We intend 
to continue this outreach process in connection with our 2023 Annual Meeting. We may also hold discussions with the major proxy 
advisory firms to learn more about their perspectives, policies and evaluation of our executive compensation program. 
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The Compensation Committee carefully considered the shareholder feedback and guidance it has received over the years and 
continued to refine the positive changes to our executive compensation program previously implemented.

 What We Heard   How We Responded

§ The metrics used to determine awards under the short and 
long-term incentive plans should be different from one 
another and closely tied to Company performance, but 
that the Compensation Committee should retain a 
reasonable level of discretionary authority.

§ The Compensation Committee approved a formula-based 
short and long-term incentive plan structure for evaluating 
our Chief Executive Officer’s performance, with a portion 
of his incentive award based on annual financial goals that 
reflect the Company’s financial and operating performance 
on a year-to-year basis, and a portion based on long-term 
financial goals that reflect the growth realized by the 
Company’s shareholders over a more extended horizon. 
For the 2020 plan, we reduced the short-term component 
of the Chief Executive Officer's performance-based 
incentive opportunity from 60% to 50%. For the 2021 
plan, we eliminated the time-based equity component that 
had been a component of the 2020 plan, thereby reducing 
the CEO's total incentive opportunity by $1 million across 
all payout thresholds.

§ The use of increase in gross revenues as a performance 
metric may encourage growth at the expense of overall 
profitability.

§ We have  eliminated the performance-based metric related 
to increasing in gross revenues, which is consistent with 
our focus on returning to profitability.

§ The Company should clearly disclose the performance 
metrics, goals and weighting that were considered when 
determining our Named Executive Officers’ incentive 
compensation payouts.

 

§ We have substantially revamped and restructured our 
Compensation Discussion and Analysis to provide a more 
detailed and transparent presentation of the alignment 
between pay and performance. Although the Company 
does not provide earnings guidance, and accordingly has 
not disclosed the specific measurement levels for certain 
performance metrics, we have expanded our disclosures to 
provide certain measurement levels and otherwise describe 
how the measurement levels were determined. We have 
also included a complete discussion of the performance 
goals met and not met.

§ The Company should consider amending its executive 
employment agreement(s) from a “single-trigger” for the 
payment of change of control bonus to a “double-trigger” 
for payment.

§ We amended our Chief Executive Officer’s employment 
agreement to provide for a “double- trigger” for payment 
of his change of control bonus and to modify the 
calculation of that bonus to be based on the average of the 
Chief Executive Officer’s actual bonuses received for the 
three years prior to the change of control. This same 
provision was incorporated into the employment 
agreement executed with our Chief Financial Officer.

Evaluation Process

The Compensation Committee conducts an annual review of the total compensation of our executive officers, executive 
compensation, as well as the mix of elements used to compensate our Named Executive Officers. This review is based in part on an 
analysis of feedback from shareholders and current best practices in executive compensation and in part on a survey of executive 
compensation paid by various comparable publicly traded property and casualty insurance companies as reported in each company’s 
proxy statement. In evaluating executive compensation programs of peer companies, the Compensation Committee considers both a 
group of direct peers and a broader group of peers.

                For 2021, our direct peer group encompassed publicly traded companies that compete with us in the Florida homeowners 
insurance market, a market with unique performance characteristics and competitive factors:

• Heritage Insurance Holdings, Inc. (NYSE: HRTG)
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• HCI Group, Inc. (NYSE: HCI)
• United Insurance Holdings Corp. (NASDAQ: UIHC)
• Universal Insurance Holdings, Inc. (NYSE: UVE).

This direct peer group remains the same for 2022.

In addition to the four Florida-based insurance companies listed above, the Company included the following companies in its 
peer group for comparison purposes for 2021:

• Safety Insurance Group Inc. (NASDAQ: SAFT)
• Donegal Group Inc. (NASDAQ: DGICA)
• Greenlight Capital Re Ltd. (NASDAQ: GLRE)
• Hallmark Financial Services (NASDAQ: HALL)
• First Acceptance Corp. (NYSE: FACO)
• Protective Insurance Corp (Baldwin & Lyons) (NASDAQ: PTVCB)
• Palomar Holdings Inc. (NASDAQ: PLMR)
• Kingstone Cos Inc. (NASDAQ: KINS)
• Global Indemnity Ltd (NASDAQ: GBLI)
• AMBAC Financial Group (NASDAQ: AMBC)

This broader peer group includes companies that have a closer alignment with the Company's core business and that are of 
comparable size. These additional peers provide the Compensation Committee with a broader perspective of compensation practices 
among relevant insurance companies. The Committee assessed the competitiveness of the Company’s compensation program in 
comparison to the entire peer group, as well as the subset of the Company’s direct peers listed above who are the Company’s primary 
publicly traded competitors in the Florida homeowners insurance market.

We also consider the industry knowledge and experience of our Committee members to be an important component of our 
compensation review process. Our Committee members each have substantial management experience in running businesses in the 
insurance, reinsurance, financial services and accounting industries, many of which have substantial management teams. As a result, 
their personal experience extends to developing and implementing management compensation and incentive programs, enabling our 
Committee members to use that experience when reviewing the Company’s executive compensation programs and working with 
MacKenzie Partners to make appropriate updates.

Elements of Compensation

                The Compensation Committee has been committed to updating the Company’s executive compensation programs to 
reflect the Company’s growth and the evolution of best practices, and to reflect the feedback received as a result of our outreach to 
our largest shareholders. In that regard, the Compensation Committee approved in 2016 and 2017 a significant revamp of the 
Company’s compensation practices, in particular the incentive compensation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and President. 
These updated compensation practices have been carried forward into 2021 and 2022. The Company’s executive compensation 
programs for its Named Executive Officers consist of elements described below.

                Base Salary. The Compensation Committee annually reviews the base salaries of the Named Executive Officers, and 
considers a number of factors, such as each Named Executive Officer’s level of responsibility, performance during the prior fiscal year 
(with respect to specific areas of responsibility and on an overall basis), past and present contributions to and achievement of 
Company goals, historical compensation levels of the Named Executive Officer, and the Company’s financial condition and results of 
operations.

                Because of the unique performance characteristics and competitive factors in the Florida homeowners’ insurance industry, 
the Compensation Committee believes comparing the Company’s executive compensation to that of its direct peer group of Florida-
based insurers, Heritage Insurance Holdings, Inc. (NYSE: HRTG), HCI Group, Inc. (NYSE: HCI), United Insurance Holdings Corp. 
(NASDAQ: UIHC) and Universal Insurance Holdings, Inc. (NYSE: UVE), provides the most meaningful insights into executive 
compensation. The unique factors that strongly influence the financial results of the Florida homeowners’ insurers include, among 
other things: the significance and complexities of exposure management, the potential occurrence of one or more severe hurricanes 
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that can materially affect financial performance and that has driven national competitors from the market, the existence and large 
presence with the Florida market of a state-controlled insurer-of-last-resort in Citizens Property Insurance Corporation (“Citizens”) 
and the extent to which Citizens is seeking or reducing policies at any time and the market impact of fluctuations in its risk appetite, 
the significant percentage of properties in high-risk coastal areas, and the litigiousness of the Florida market. Because of the similarity 
of our operations, this peer group also represents the market in which we most directly compete for executive talent. Accordingly, the 
Compensation Committee’s analyses focus significantly on our Chief Executive Officer’s base salary as compared to the annual base 
salaries of the chief executive officers of our Florida-based direct peer group, as described in the table below:

Company

2019 Annual 
CEO

Salary (A)

2020 Annual 
CEO

Salary (A)
FedNat Holding Company $ 1,000,000 $ 1,000,000 
Heritage Insurance Holdings, Inc. $ 2,302,529 $ 1,000,000 
Universal Insurance Holdings, Inc. $ 804,375 $ 1,000,000 
HCI Group, Inc. $ 950,000 $ 986,539 
United Insurance Holdings Corp. $ 1,000,000 $ — 
Median (excluding FNHC) $ 975,000 $ 993,270 

(A) As reported in each company’s proxy statement.

The data from the table above enabled the Compensation Committee to measure our Chief Executive Officer’s base salary 
against the base salary levels for the chief executive officers of our Florida-based direct peer group. For 2021, based on the Company’s 
results for 2020 and a comparison of Mr. Braun’s salary to that of the direct peer group, Mr. Braun’s base salary remained the same. 
The Compensation Committee also determined that Mr. Braun’s salary would remain unchanged for 2022.

Based on an analysis of market rates for 2021, our Chief Financial Officer's base salary was set at $350,000. The 
Compensation Committee also determined that Mr. Jordan's salary would be adjusted to $365,000 for 2022, reflective of cost of living 
adjustment and the increased demands of the role in the context of the activities of the Strategic Review Committee. 

Incentive Compensation. Consistent with the Company’s pay-for-performance philosophy of compensating our Named 
Executive Officers for the Company’s achievements for the prior year and their roles in those achievements, and reflecting the 
feedback received over the years from outreach to our largest shareholders, in 2017 the Compensation Committee completely 
revamped the incentive compensation of our Chief Executive Officer, and has continued to refine it in each subsequent year. As part 
of this revamp, the Compensation Committee required for the annual bonus that the Company’s net income achieve a specified 
minimum threshold, in addition to the performance criteria described below. The revamped pay-for-performance compensation 
structure also includes a discretionary component that allows the Compensation Committee to consider achievement in other 
Company initiatives when determining the annual award.

The Compensation Committee determined the specific target levels for 2021 for the chosen performance metrics for both 
the annual and long-term components by extrapolating the Company’s recent actual performance results with respect to each metric. 
The Committee also considered the Company’s projected and longer-term historic performance, as well as that of the direct peer 
group of Florida-based homeowners insurers and of the property and casualty insurance industry generally, when determining the 
target levels for each metric. However, the performance levels selected for 2021 were driven by the Committee’s view of long-term 
shareholder expectations versus the headwinds the Company is currently facing. As such, the performance levels selected two of the 
three non-discretionary metrics were higher in 2021 than in 2020. The target levels of the metrics are intended to incentivize our Chief 
Executive Officer to direct the Company’s future in a reasonable and efficient manner, while the maximum levels are intended to 
reward extraordinary accomplishments. The threshold levels reflect that, while the Company’s results can be severely impacted by 
events completely beyond the Company’s control, the Company’s ability to manage its exposure, effectively structure its reinsurance 
program and take other steps to improve expense control can mitigate the impact of those events. As described further below, no cash 
payouts or vesting of performance-based shares were achieved during 2021 related to the 2021 measures.

Annual Incentive Plan. For 2021, 50% of Mr. Braun’s performance-based incentive compensation consisted of an annual 
bonus payable in cash based on targeted EBITDA (30%) and a discretionary component (20%). The introduction of a discretionary 
component was in keep with investor feedback supporting a reasonable degree of Compensation Committee discretion. The 
Compensation Committee determined that this structure for the annual incentive plan appropriately reflected the key measure of the 
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Company’s results of operations on a year- to-year basis, provided incentives to grow the Company’s business in a cost-effective way, 
and enabled the Compensation Committee to reward important achievement of the Company’s initiatives.

For 2021, the Company’s actual EBITDA was negative and well below the Threshold level of payout of $16.3 million. 
Further, the Company's net income for 2021 was below the $4 million minimum threshold determined by the Compensation 
Committee for payouts under the annual incentive plan to occur. As a result, Mr. Braun did not receive a bonus under the annual 
component of the incentive plan for 2021.

               Long-Term Incentive Plan. The remaining 50% of Mr. Braun’s 2021 performance-based incentive compensation consisted 
of a long-term incentive bonus payable in equity, based in equal parts on return on equity ("ROE"), excluding investment gains and 
losses, and increasing book value per share, excluding changes in accumulated other comprehensive income ("AOCI"). These 
components are measured over successive one-year performance periods (but the goals are not modified from period to period), and 
the equity granted vests 1/3 annually beginning one year after the grant date.

The performance metrics selected by the Compensation Committee for the 2021 long-term incentive plan are appropriate 
measures of the Company’s success over a longer time horizon, with particular emphasis on the measurements that are meaningful to 
the Company’s shareholders and relevant to the Company’s long-term business strategy and also contemplate the unique aspects of the 
Company’s business, in particular the material impact of hurricanes and other severe weather events that are inherently difficult to 
predict during any one year. The Compensation Committee believes that the annual measurement of the ROE and increase in book 
value per share metrics provides an appropriate means of measuring long-term performance in an industry where external events (i.e. 
hurricanes), pricing cycles, and claims trends (such as assignment of benefits and likelihood of litigation) can have a material impact on 
the Company’s appetite for growth and its financial and operational results.

2021 Achievement – Year 1 of 2021 Plan. The Company’s performance for 2021 as compared to the metrics used in our 
Chief Executive Officer’s long-term incentive plan was as follows:

• ROE, excluding investment gains and losses, was negative and well below the Threshold level of payout of 10%; and
• Increase in book value per share, excluding changes in AOCI, was negative and below the Threshold level of payout of 8%.

As a result, Mr. Braun forfeited 18,144 performance-based shares (or $167,000 based on the grant date ascribed value) that 
had been granted for 2021 under the long-term incentive plan.

2021 Achievement - Year 2 of 2020 Plan. 2021 represented year two of the long-term portion of Mr. Braun’s 2020 incentive 
compensation.  The Company’s performance as compared to the metrics used was as follows:

• ROE, excluding investment gains and losses, was negative and well below the Threshold level of payout of 6%; and
• Increase in book value per share, excluding changes in AOCI, was negative and below the Threshold level of payout of 3%.

As a result, Mr. Braun forfeited 9,662 performance-based shares (or $167,000 based on the grant date ascribed value) that had 
been granted for 2020 under the long-term incentive plan.

2021 Achievement - Year 3 of 2019 Plan. 2021 represented year three of the long-term portion of Mr. Braun's 2019 incentive 
compensation. The Company’s performance as compared to the metrics used was as follows:

• ROE, excluding investment gains and losses, was negative and below the Threshold level of payout of 10%; and
• Increase in book value per share, excluding changes in AOCI, was negative and below the Threshold level of payout of 8%.

As a result, Mr. Braun forfeited 12,941 performance-based shares (or $233,000 based on the grant date ascribed value) that 
had been granted for 2019 under the long-term incentive plan.

2021 Achievement - 2021, 2020, and 2019 Plans Combined. For the 2021, 2020, and 2019 long-term incentive plans on a 
combined basis, total long-term incentive compensation forfeited by our Chief Executive Officer based on the Company’s 2020 
performance was approximately $567,000, based on the related grant date ascribed values.
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Changes for 2022 Plan. As detailed under “Shareholder Outreach and Say on Pay” above, the Company has proactively 
sought shareholder input on its compensation practices. Based in part on feedback received from shareholders in recent years, and also 
taking into account current and expected economic and industry trends likely to impact Florida-based homeowners insurers, the 
Compensation Committee approved several changes to the incentive compensation plan for 2022, which the Company believes retains 
the goals of relating executive compensation to Company growth and shareholder returns, and retaining executive leadership. The 
Company’s low stock price was the most over-arching consideration in designing the 2022 Plan, as the number of performance-based 
shares that would have been granted under past practices would have represented excessive dilution risk to existing shareholders. As a 
result, for 2022, the long-term portion of the Plan will be a cash-based incentive rather than equity-based incentive. The Compensation 
Committee views this as an appropriate action in light of the Company’s share price that protects shareholders from the potential for 
excessive dilution in the event the performance objectives are met. The Compensation Committee expects that the long-term portion 
of the 2023 Plan would revert to equity-based compensation. 

Compensation of our Chief Executive Officer. The performance-based components, including the relative weightings and 
Payout Factors, of the CEO incentive compensation plan for 2022 are as follows:

2022 Annual Incentive Plan:   CEO Payout Factors

Performance Metrics Weight Threshold   Target   Maximum
EBITDA  0.30  0.50  1.00  2.00 
Discretionary Component  0.20  0.50  1.00  2.00 
Total  0.50 

2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Performance-Based):   CEO Payout Factors

Performance Metrics Weight Threshold   Target   Maximum
ROE  0.25  0.50  1.00  2.00 
Increase in Book Value per Share  0.25  0.50  1.00  2.00 
Total  0.50 

Note: The potential payout for each metric is calculated as base salary x Payout Factor x Weight.

The Threshold, Target and Maximum measurement levels were determined by the Compensation Committee with reference 
to the historical performance of the property and casualty insurance industry generally, adjusted to reflect the unique characteristics of 
the Florida property insurance market, and the Company specifically. Each level was developed such that the threshold level was 
reasonably achievable with good Company performance, the target level was achievable with superior Company performance, and the 
maximum level was achievable with exemplary Company performance. It should be specifically noted that the Company does not 
provide earnings guidance, nor does it intend that the measurement levels provided be interpreted as financial projections or indicative 
of the Company’s expectations as to its financial results for any current or future periods. Accordingly, the Company is not providing 
the measurement levels for the EBITDA, ROE or Book Value Per Share metrics at this time so as to avoid any interpretation of 
forward earnings guidance. Consistent with the Company’s prior practices, the Company will disclose its results with respect to all of 
these performance metrics in its 2023 proxy statement.

The Compensation Committee maintained the EBITDA metric in the annual component of the plan, which along with a 
discretionary component comprises 50% of the 2022 Incentive Plan. ROE and increase in book value per share were maintained in the 
long-term component, which comprises 50% of the 2022 Incentive Plan. The resulting total potential payouts are $0.5 million, $1.0 
million and $2.0 million at Threshold, Target and Maximum, respectively, with 50% attributable to the annual incentive (payable in 
cash) and 50% attributable to the long-term incentive (also payable in cash, as described above). The Compensation Committee 
believes the performance-based components of the 2022 Incentive Plan appropriately balance our Chief Executive Officer’s focus on 
both the short-term and long-term success of the Company.

The total payout for both the annual and long-term incentive bonuses on a combined basis will be based on Mr. Braun’s base 
salary of $1,000,000 for 2022, at the Threshold, Target and Maximum payout factors indicated in the table above. No payouts will be 
made under the performance-based component of the Annual Incentive Plan unless the Company’s 2022 net income is above a 
minimum threshold as determined by the Compensation Committee.
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The Compensation Committee determined that Mr. Braun will receive no increase in base salary for 2022 when determining 
the Threshold, Target and Maximum percentages of base salary for his 2022 Incentive Plan. In addition, the Compensation Committee 
believes that our Chief Executive Officer’s prospective maximum payout under his annual and long-term incentive compensation plan 
for 2022 is well within the range of the actual awards made by the Company’s direct peer group. The Compensation Committee 
believes that the Company’s performance measures, as amended, are appropriate when compared to the Company’s broader peer 
group as well.

The table below outlines our Chief Executive Officer's total 2022 Incentive Plan, including the performance-based and time-
based components:

2022 CEO Incentive Plan CEO Payout Factors

Annual - Performance-Based: Weight Threshold Target Maximum
EBITDA  0.30 $ 150,000 $ 300,000 $ 600,000 
Discretionary Component  0.20  100,000  200,000  400,000 
Total  0.50  250,000  500,000  1,000,000 

Long-Term - Performance-Based:
ROE  0.25  125,000  250,000  500,000 

Increase in Book Value per Share  0.25  125,000  250,000  500,000 

Total  0.50  250,000  500,000  1,000,000 

Total - Performance-Based  1.00 $ 500,000 $ 1,000,000 $ 2,000,000 

Compensation of our Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer. For 2021, our Chief Financial Officer, Ronald A. 
Jordan, received an annual base salary of $350,000. He was also entitled to receive for 2021 an annual bonus, payable in stock and 
cash, with a target of 100% of his base salary and a maximum of 200% of his base salary, subject to the same performance criteria 
detailed above for the Chief Executive Officer. As described above, for 2021 the Company did not achieve Threshold performance, 
and Mr. Jordan did not receive any Annual Incentive Plan payments under the plan. In recognition of his strong leadership and talent 
retention within the Finance Department in light of extraordinary demands on his own and department resources resulting from the 
activities of the Strategic Review Committee, as well as with an eye towards retention given the headwinds our Company and industry 
are facing, the Compensation Committee in March 2022 awarded Mr. Jordan a cash bonus of $100,000 and granted him 10,000 shares 
of restricted stock (or $5,000 based on the grant date share price) that will vest over five years.

With respect to Mr. Jordan's award under his long-term bonus plan, as described above, the Company did not achieve during 
2021 the Threshold level of either of the annually measured metrics used in our long-term plan for 2021, 2020 or 2019. As a result, Mr. 
Jordan forfeited 6,351 performance-based shares (or $58,000 based on the grant date ascribed value) that had been granted for 2021 
under the long-term incentive plan, 2,705 performance-based shares (or $47,000 based on the grant date ascribed value) that had been 
granted for 2020 under the long-term plan and 2,403 performance-based shares (or $43,000 based on the grant date ascribed value) 
that had been granted for 2019 under the long-term incentive plan.  For the 2021, 2020, and 2019 long-term incentive plans on a 
combined basis, total long-term incentive compensation forfeited by our Chief Financial Officer based on the Company’s 2021 
performance was approximately $148,000, based on the related grant date ascribed values.

For 2022, Mr. Jordan’s base salary is $365,000, an increase of 4.3% from 2021. 

For 2021, our Chief Operating Officer, Patrick McCahill, received an annual base salary of $350,000. Mr. McCahill resigned 
his position effective December 31, 2021 and therefore forfeited all 10,886 performance-based shares (or $100,000 based on the grant 
ascribed value) that had been granted in March 2021 under the long-term incentive plan. Mr. McCahill also forfeited all 2,500 shares of 
time-based restricted stock (or $12,000 based on the grant date share price) that had been granted to him in March 2021.

For our Chief Financial Officer, the incentive bonus for 2022 will be based on the same short-term and long-term metrics, 
weightings and payout factors as for our Chief Executive Officer, as disclosed above, and will be payable in cash for the short-term 
and long-term bonus, for the reasons described above. No payouts will be made under the performance-based component of the 
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Annual Incentive Plan unless the Company’s 2022 net income is above a minimum threshold as determined by the Compensation 
Committee.

For 2022, the potential total incentive plan payouts to our Chief Financial Officer are $182,500 at Threshold, $365,000 at 
Target and $730,000 at Maximum.

2018 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. Our Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan, which was adopted by the Board 
of Directors and approved by our shareholders in 2018, authorizes us to grant a variety of equity incentive awards, such as incentive 
stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, dividend equivalent rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, 
and performance shares to officers, directors and executive, managerial, administrative and professional employees of the Company 
and its subsidiaries. Awards may be granted singly, in combination, or in tandem. Our Compensation Committee is the administrator 
of the equity plans. The Compensation Committee reviews and approves equity awards to executive officers based upon a review of 
competitive compensation data, its assessment of individual performance, and retention considerations, as well as a review of the 
individual’s existing share and option holdings. Equity grants have been made at the discretion of the Compensation Committee and/
or executive management members, who have been granted limited authority by the Compensation Committee. To date, only 
restricted stock has been granted under the Omnibus Incentive Plan. The Omnibus Incentive Plan prohibits repricing of stock options 
and prohibits cash buyouts of underwater options, and requires a minimum vesting period of one year (except that up to 5% of the 
shares reserved under the Omnibus Incentive Plan may be granted without the minimum vesting requirement).

Other Employee Benefit Plans. Our employees, including our Named Executive Officers, are entitled to various employee 
benefits. These benefits include medical and dental care plans; flexible benefit accounts; life, accidental death and dismemberment and 
disability insurance; a 401(k) plan; and paid vacation.

Under our 401(k) plan, the Company matches 100% of the first 6% of participant elective contributions subject to IRS 
limitations and, from time to time, the Board of Directors approves an additional discretionary profit-sharing contribution. No 
additional contribution was approved for 2021. The Board of Directors intends to review the Company’s financial results annually to 
determine whether to approve a discretionary profit-sharing contribution in any future years.

Other Compensation. At the present time, we do not offer pension benefits or, except as described above, other forms of 
deferred compensation plans. The Compensation Committee periodically reviews the overall employment packages and benefits 
offered to the Company’s Named Executive Officers. The Compensation Committee believes that the benefits and perquisites offered 
to the Named Executive Officers are currently set at competitive levels for comparable companies, requiring no further changes at this 
time. The Compensation Committee may, however, at its discretion, modify or increase the Named Executive Officers’ executive 
benefits and perquisites, if it deems it appropriate or advisable.

Clawback Policy. The Board has adopted a clawback policy applicable to our Named Executive Officers and other current 
or former executive officers of the Company. Pursuant to this policy, the Company will have the right, in appropriate circumstances as 
determined by the Board in its sole discretion, to seek to recover all or any part of the cash or equity incentive-based compensation 
granted to our Named Executive Officers or such other executive officers during the three fiscal years preceding the date on which the 
Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement to correct a material error, if the restatement is required because of a 
knowing violation of SEC rules and regulations, GAAP, other applicable legal or regulatory requirements, or Company policy by a 
Named Executive Officer or such other executive officer. Incentive-based compensation subject to the policy includes any cash or 
equity compensation granted, earned or vested based wholly or in part on the attainment of a financial reporting measure. Financial 
reporting measures include measures that are based on accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, 
measures that are derived from information in the Company’s financial statements, and stock price and total shareholder return. The 
Board will have the discretion to forgo such recovery if it determines that seeking such recovery would be unreasonable or not in the 
Company’s best interests.

Stock Ownership and Retention Guidelines. The Board has implemented stock ownership guidelines applicable to our 
Named Executive Officers. Under these guidelines, our Chief Executive Officer is required to hold shares of the Company’s common 
stock with a value of at least six times his annual salary rate, and our Chief Financial Officer is required to hold shares with a value of 
at least three times his annual salary rate. The guidelines further provide that the Named Executive Officers should achieve the 
guideline amounts within five years of becoming subject to the policy and, until the guideline amounts are achieved, the Named 
Executive Officers must retain 66-2/3% of any shares received as equity grants from the Company, net of shares withheld or sold to 
pay taxes. The Board also prohibits hedging or pledging the Company’s common stock, without exception.
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Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee of the Company has reviewed and discussed the foregoing Compensation Discussion and 
Analysis with management. Based on our review and discussion with management, we have recommended to the Board of Directors 
that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in the Company’s SEC filings, including its proxy statement for the 2022 
Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

Respectfully Submitted
April 25, 2022

/s/ David W. Michelson, Committee Chair
/s/ Jenifer G. Kimbrough
/s/ Thomas A. Rogers
/s/ Bruce F. Simberg
/s/ David K. Patterson
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth information regarding compensation earned by, awarded to or paid to our Named Executive 
Officers for the years indicated:

Name and
Principal
Position Year Salary Bonus (1) Stock Awards

Option
Awards

Non-Equity
 Incentive Plan
Compensation

(2)

Nonqualified
Deferred

Compensation
Earnings

All Other
Compensation

(3) Total

Michael H. Braun
Chief Executive 
Officer, President

2021 $ 1,000,000 $ — $ 252,016 (4) $ — $ — $ — $ 17,400   $ 1,269,416 

2020  1,000,000  —  897,082 (5)  —  —  —  18,462    1,915,544 

2019  1,000,000  —  699,997 (6)  —  —  —  16,800    1,716,797 

Ronald A. Jordan
Chief Financial 
Officer

2021  350,000  100,000  93,506 (7)  —  —  —  17,400  560,906 

2020  350,000  50,000  107,494 (8)  —  —  —  17,100  524,594 

2019  325,000  100,000  164,251 (9)  —  —  —  16,800  606,051 

Patrick McCahill
Chief Operating 
Officer

2021  350,000  —  50,402 (10)  —  —  —  17,400  417,802 

2020  102,083  145,000  11,575 (11)  —  —  —  1,615  260,273 

2019  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

(1) Reflects cash bonuses earned by the Named Executive Officer for the applicable fiscal year but that were paid in the 
following fiscal year. In addition, Mr. McCahill received a sign-on bonus of $100,000 upon joining the Company in 2020. Mr. 
McCahill was not a participant in the Company's incentive compensation plan in 2020.

(2) Reflects annual incentive bonuses based on performance criteria for the stated year, each of which were paid in the following 
fiscal year.

(3) See table "All Other Compensation" below for an itemized disclosure of this element of compensation.
(4) Reflects long-term incentive award of 54,431 shares (at Target payout level) of restricted stock granted in 2021 for 

performance-based goals to be met over a three-year period from 2021 to 2023, of which certain goals were not met in 2021, 
resulting in the forfeiture of 18,144 shares (or $84,000 based on the grant date share price), thus far, from this grant.

(5) Reflects long-term incentive award of 28,985 shares (at Target payout level) of restricted stock granted in 2020 for 
performance-based goals to be met over a three-year period from 2020 to 2022, of which certain goals were not met in 2020 
and 2021, resulting in the forfeiture of 19,324 shares (or $204,000 based on the grant date share price), thus far, from this 
grant. In recognition of certain accomplishments along with a desire to maintain long-term compensation alignment between 
the Company and the CEO, Mr. Braun was granted 50,000 shares of restricted stock (or $591,000 based on the grant date 
share price) that time-vest over five years.

(6) Reflects long-term incentive award of 38,824 shares (at Target payout level) of restricted stock granted in 2019 for 
performance-based goals to be met over a three-year period from 2019 to 2021, of which certain goals were not met in 2019, 
2020 and 2021, resulting in the forfeiture of 38,824 shares (or $700,000 based on the grant date share price) from this grant.

(7) Reflects (1) long-term incentive award of 19,051 shares (at Target payout level) of restricted stock granted in 2021 for 
performance-based goals to be met over a three-year period from 2021 to 2023, of which certain goals were not met in 2021, 
resulting in the forfeiture of 6,351 shares (or $29,000 based on the grant date share price), thus far, from this grant; and (2) 
10,000 shares of restricted stock (or $5,000 based on the grant date share price) that time-vest over five years.

(8) Reflects (1) long-term incentive award of 8,115 shares (at Target payout level) of restricted stock granted in 2020 for 
performance-based goals to be met over a three-year period from 2020 to 2022, of which certain goals were not met in 2020 
and 2021, resulting in the forfeiture of 5,410 shares (or $64,000 based on the grant date share price), thus far from this grant; 
and (2) 2,500 shares of restricted stock (or $12,000 based on the grant date share price) that time-vest over five years.

(9) Reflects (1) long-term incentive award of 7,210 shares (at Target payout level) of restricted stock granted in 2019 for 
performance-based goals to be met over a three-year period from 2019 to 2021, of which certain goals were not met in 2019, 
2020 and 2021, resulting in the forfeiture of 7,210 shares (or $130,000 based on the grant date share price) from this grant, 
and (2) 2,898 shares of restricted stock (or $34,000 based on the grant date share price) granted in 2020 that time-vest over 
five-years.

(10) Reflects long-term incentive award of 10,886 shares (at Target payout level) of restricted stock granted in 2021 for 
performance-based goals to be met over a three-year period from 2021 to 2023. Mr. McCahill resigned from his position 
during 2021 resulting  in the forfeiture of 10,886 shares (or $50,000 based on the grant date share price) from this grant.

(11) Reflects 2,500 shares of restricted stock (or $12,000 based on the grant date share price) that time-vest over five years, all of 
which were forfeited due to Mr. McCahill's resignation.

-20- 



ALL OTHER COMPENSATION

Name Year Auto
Relocation

Fees
Insurance

Benefits (1)
Contribution to
401(k) Plan (2)

All Other
Compensation

Total

Michael H. Braun
2021 $ — $ — $ — $ 17,400 $ 17,400 
2020  —  —  —  18,462  18,462 
2019  —  —  —  16,800  16,800 

Ronald A. Jordan
2021  —    —  —  17,400  17,400 
2020  —    —  —  17,100  17,100 
2019  —    —  —  16,800  16,800 

Patrick McCahill
2021  —  —  —  17,400  17,400 
2020  —  —  —  1,615  1,615 
2019  —  —  —  —  — 

(1) Represents premiums for medical insurance.
(2) Represents matching contributions made by the Company on behalf of the Named Executive Officers to the Company’s 

401(k) plan.

Employment Agreements

Michael H. Braun, Chief Executive Officer and President. We have been a party to an employment agreement with Michael 
H. Braun, our Chief Executive Officer and President, since 2012, which amended and restated Mr. Braun’s prior employment 
agreement. In a 2015 amendment, the term of his employment agreement was extended to four years from the date of the amendment 
with automatic extensions so that at all times the balance of the term is not less than two years unless sooner terminated as provided in 
the employment agreement. Under his agreement, Mr. Braun’s annual base salary, which may be increased at any time during the term 
of the agreement, is $1,000,000. Mr. Braun is also entitled to receive such bonuses and increases as may be awarded by the Board of 
Directors. It also contains customary confidentiality and non-solicitation provisions. 

Mr. Braun is entitled to receive certain payments upon the termination of employment under certain circumstances as set 
forth in his agreement, as amended. If his employment is terminated by us without Cause (as defined in his agreement), we must make 
a lump sum payment to the executive equal to two years' base salary (the “Termination Severance”). In addition, all unvested stock 
options and any other outstanding equity awards will become vested. If Mr. Braun’s employment with us is terminated for Cause or as 
a result of his death or disability, he will be entitled to his base salary prorated through the date of the termination and any benefits due 
him as may be provided under the applicable plan, program or arrangement.

The agreement also provides for payments to him if he is employed by us on the date on which a Change of Control occurs. 
Under the agreements, a “Change of Control” will be deemed to have occurred if: (i) any person, including a “group” as defined in 
Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act, becomes the owner or beneficial owner of our securities having 50% or more of the combined 
voting power of our then-outstanding securities that may be voted for the election of our directors (other than as a result of an 
issuance of securities initiated by us, or open market purchases approved by our Board, as long as the majority of the Board approving 
the purchases is the majority at the time the purchases are made), or (ii) the persons who were our directors before such transactions 
shall cease to constitute a majority of our Board, or any successor to us, as the direct or indirect result of or in connection with, any 
cash tender or exchange offer, merger or other business combination, sale of assets or contested election, or any combination of the 
foregoing transactions. If, following a Change in Control, Mr. Braun’s employment is terminated by us (or any successor or subsidiary) 
without Cause or by the executive for Good Reason (as defined in his agreement), we will make a lump sum payment to the executive 
in an amount equal to two times the sum of his base salary immediately preceding the Change of Control plus the average of his actual 
bonus for the three fiscal years immediately preceding the Change of Control (the "Change of Control Severance"). Additionally, all 
unvested stock options and any other outstanding equity awards will become vested and the Company will provide Mr. Braun (and his 
family) with medical insurance for a period of two years after the date of such termination of employment at no cost and on the same 
terms and conditions as in effect on the date on which such termination of employment occurs.

If Mr. Braun is terminated by us without Cause prior to a Change of Control, and a Change of Control occurs within six 
months following such termination, then in addition to the Termination Severance described above, he will be entitled to an additional 
lump sum payment in an amount equal to (i) the Change of Control Severance, less (ii) the Termination Severance.
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As a condition to Mr. Braun’s entitlement to receive the base salary amounts and equity award acceleration referenced above, 
he is bound by the terms of an agreement that sets forth certain restrictive covenants. Pursuant to the non-competition provisions of 
this agreement, as amended, he is prohibited from working in the insurance industry in any territories where the Company has been 
doing business for a period of two years from the date on which he terminates employment with the Company for any reason (other 
than without cause). For a period of two years after his employment is terminated, he is also prohibited from soliciting, for himself or 
for any third person, any employees or former employees of the Company, unless the employees have not been employed by the 
Company for a period in excess of six months, and from disclosing any confidential information that he learned about the Company 
during his employment.

Ronald A. Jordan, Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Jordan became the Company’s Chief Financial Officer in April 2017. On 
January 8, 2019, we entered into an employment agreement with him, pursuant to which he is entitled to receive base salary and 
incentive compensation as determined by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors. He is also entitled to 
receive medical insurance (including family coverage) and other benefits commensurate with that offered to other similarly situated 
employees.

The term of Mr. Jordan’s employment agreement, as amended on November 4, 2020, is two years from the date of the 
amendment with automatic extensions so that at all times the balance of the term is not less than two years unless sooner terminated 
as provided in the employment agreement. If Mr. Jordan’s employment is terminated by the Company without cause prior to a change 
of control of the Company (as defined in his employment agreement), Mr. Jordan will be entitled to receive in a lump sum payment 
severance equal to two times his annual base salary as in effect immediately prior to such termination (“Termination Severance”) and 
any accrued but unpaid bonuses, incentive compensation and other benefits (“Accrued Obligations”). In addition, any outstanding 
equity awards will vest. The Company will also provide Mr. Jordan and his family medical insurance coverage for two years at no cost 
(“Extended Medical Coverage”).

If Mr. Jordan’s employment is terminated because of his death or disability (as defined in his employment agreement), Mr. 
Jordan will be entitled to receive the Termination Severance (less, in the case of his disability, any amounts paid to him under a long-
term disability policy) and the Accrued Obligations. The Termination Severance will be paid in a lump sum in the case of his death, 
and in accordance with the Company’s payroll practices, in the case of his disability. In addition, any outstanding equity awards will 
vest, and the Company will provide two years of Extended Medical Coverage to his family, in the case of his death, or to him and his 
family, in the case of his disability.

If Mr. Jordan’s employment is terminated by the Company without cause or is terminated by him for Good Reason (as 
defined in his employment agreement) following a change of control of the Company, Mr. Jordan will be entitled to receive in a lump 
sum payment severance equal to two times the sum of (a) his annual base salary in effect immediately prior to date of the definitive 
agreement for the transaction resulting in the change of control plus (b) the average of his incentive bonuses (annual and long-term) 
awarded for the three fiscal years immediately preceding the termination of his employment (“Change of Control Severance”). In 
addition, any outstanding equity awards will vest. The Company will also provide Mr. Jordan and his family Extended Medical 
Coverage for two years.

If Mr. Jordan’s employment is terminated by the Company without cause prior to a change of control, and a change of 
control occurs within six months of the termination of his employment, Mr. Jordan will be entitled to receive an additional payment 
equal to the difference between the Change of Control Severance to which he would have been entitled and the Termination 
Severance. If Mr. Jordan resigns, or is terminated by the Company for cause (as defined in the Employment Agreement), he will be 
entitled to receive only his base salary prorated through the date of termination and will forfeit any accrued but unpaid bonus or other 
incentive compensation or other benefits, unless otherwise provided under the applicable plan, program or arrangement.

Mr. Jordan’s employment agreement also sets forth a reaffirmation of the restrictive covenants in Mr. Jordan’s Confidential 
Information, Non-Solicitation and Non-Competition Agreement dated April 17, 2017.

Equity-Based Compensation

Grants of Plan Based Awards. The following table provides information regarding restricted stock granted to our Named 
Executive Officers during 2021 under the Company’s Omnibus Incentive Plan. Initial grants of performance-based shares are based 
on the Maximum potential level of achievement; however, such shares are not released to the executive until the requisite time period 
has passed and only if the related performance measures have been achieved. All shares associated with performance objectives not 
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achieved are forfeited by the executive and returned to the Company's pool of shares available to be granted under the Omnibus 
Incentive Plan in the future.

GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS

Name Grant Date

All Other Equity 
Awards /

Number of 
Securities

Underlying 
Options

Exercise or 
Base

Price of 
Equity
Awards

Grant Date 
Fair Value
of Equity 

Awards (1)
Michael H. Braun 3/31/2021  108,863 (3)  —  504,036 

Ronald A. Jordan 3/31/2021
 2,500 (2)  —  11,575 
 38,102 (3)  —  176,412 

Patrick S. McCahill 3/31/2021
 2,500  (4)  —  11,575 
 21,771  (5)  —  100,804 

(1) This amount reflects the aggregate grant date fair value of the shares granted at the Maximum level of payout (in the case 
of performance-based grants). The grant date fair value is based on the closing price of the common stock at the 
applicable grant date.

(2) Shares granted in 2021 that will vest over five years.
(3) Shares granted in 2021 for performance awards based on 2021 to 2023 performance.
(4) Shares granted in 2021 that time-vest over five years, all of which were forfeited due to Mr. McCahill’s resignation.
(5) Shares granted in 2021 for performance awards based, all of which were forfeited due to Mr. McCahill’s resignation

Forfeitures of 2021, 2020 and 2019 Awards Based on 2021 Results. As described above under “Long-Term Incentive 
Award,” performance-based awards are subject to forfeiture if the underlying performance goals are not met. As a result of the 
Company’s performance for 2021, Mr. Braun has forfeited 18,144 performance-based shares (or $84,000 based on the grant date share 
price) included above for the 2021 long-term award. Similarly, Mr. Jordan forfeited 6,351 performance-based shares (or $29,000 based 
on the grant date share price). In addition, based on the Company’s 2021 performance, Mr. Braun forfeited 9,662 performance-based 
shares that had been granted under the 2020 long-term incentive plan and 12,941 performance-based shares that had been granted 
under the 2019 long-term incentive plan. Mr. Jordan forfeited 2,705 performance-based shares that had been granted under the 2020 
long-term incentive plan and 2,403 performance-based shares that had been granted under the 2019 long-term incentive plan. Total 
long-term compensation forfeited by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer based on the Company’s 2021 
performance was approximately $419,000 and $104,000, respectively, based on grant date share prices.

Omnibus Incentive Plan. Our Omnibus Incentive Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee. The objectives of 
the Omnibus Incentive Plan include attracting, motivating and retaining key personnel and promoting our success by linking the 
interests of our employees, directors and consultants with our success.

Awards may be made under the Omnibus Incentive Plan in the form of (a) incentive stock options, (b) non-qualified stock 
options, (c) stock appreciation rights, (d) dividend equivalent rights, (e) restricted stock, (f) unrestricted stock, (g) restricted stock units, 
and (h) performance shares. No incentive stock option may be granted to a person who is not an employee of the Company or one of 
its subsidiaries on the date of grant. 

As of December 31, 2021, 392,932 shares were remaining available to be granted under the Omnibus Incentive Plan and, as 
of the date of this proxy statement, 494,497 shares were available. The shares to be delivered pursuant to awards will be made 
available, at the discretion of the Compensation Committee, from authorized but unissued shares or outstanding awards that expire or 
are cancelled. If shares covered by an award cease to be issuable for any reason, such number of shares will no longer count against the 
shares authorized under the plan and may again be granted under the Omnibus Incentive Plan.

Awards granted under the Omnibus Incentive Plan typically vest in equal portions over three or five years. Awards granted 
under the Omnibus Incentive Plan require that the recipient of a grant be continuously employed or otherwise provide services to us 
or our subsidiaries. Failure to be continuously employed or in another service relationship generally results in the forfeiture of awards 
not vested at the time the employment or other service relationship ends. Termination of a recipient’s employment or other service 
relationship for cause generally results in the forfeiture of all of the recipient’s unexercised awards.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End. The following table summarizes the equity awards held by our Named  
Executive Officers as of December 31, 2021.

Stock Option Awards Restricted Stock Awards

Name

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Exercisable 
Options (#)

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Unexercisable 
Options (#)

Option 
Exercise Price 

($)

Option 
Expiration 

Date

Shares That 
Have Not 
Vested (#)

Market Value 
of Shares 

That Have 
Not Vested 

($)(1)

Number of 
Unearned 

Shares, Units 
or Other 

Rights That 
Have Not 

Vested

Market or Payout 
Value of Unearned 

Shares, Units or 
Other Rights That 
Have Not Vested

Michael H. Braun          40,000 $ 56,400  — $ — (2)

         19,323  27,245  —  — (3)

         72,575  102,331  —  — (4)
Ronald A. Jordan          2,000  2,820  —  — (5)

         3,328  4,692  —  — (6)

         2,318  3,269  —  — (2)

 5,410  7,628  —  — (3)

 2,500  3,525  —  — (7)

 25,401  35,815  —  — (4)
Patrick McCahill  —  —  —  — 

(1) Based on the market value per share of $1.41 on 12/31/2021.
(2) Restricted stock vested as to 20% as of 12/31/2021, the remaining 80% vest as follows: 20% on 3/6/2022, 20% on 

3/6/2023, 20% on 3/6/2024 and 20% on 3/6/2025.
(3) This grant vests based on performance achieved each year from 2020 to 2022. The Threshold level of Company 

performance was not achieved for 2020 and 2021, therefore the annually measured component of the grant for 
those years was forfeited.

(4) This grant vests based on performance achieved each year from 2021 to 2023. The Threshold level of Company 
performance was not achieved for 2021, therefore the annually measured component of the grant for that year was 
forfeited.

(5) Restricted stock vested as to 80% as of 12/31/2021, the remaining 20% vests on 5/12/2022.
(6) Restricted stock vested as to 40% as of 12/31/2021, the remaining 60% vest as follows: 20% on 3/6/2022, 20% on 

3/6/2023 and 20% on 3/6/2024.
(7) Restricted stock unvested as of 12/31/2021, of which 100% vest as follows: 20% on 3/31/2022, 20% on 

3/31/2023, 20% on 3/31/2024, 20% on 3/31/2025 and 20% on 3/31/2026.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested. The following table sets forth certain information with respect to stock options 
exercised and restricted stock awards vested during calendar year 2021 by our Named Executive Officers.

  Stock Option Awards Restricted Stock Awards

Name

Shares 
acquired on
Exercise (#)

Value 
Realized on
Exercise ($)

Shares 
Acquired on
Vesting (#)

Value 
Realized on
Vesting ($)

Michael H. Braun  — $ —  6,263 $ 35,449 
 —  —  10,000  68,600 

Ronald A. Jordan  —  —  1,109  7,609 
 —  —  2,000  8,620 
 —  —  580  3,976 

Patrick McCahill  —  —  —  — 

Chief Executive Officer Pay Ratio Disclosure

Under rules adopted pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act of 2010, we have presented below the ratio of the annual total 
compensation of our median compensated employee, excluding our Chief Executive Officer, to the annual total compensation of our 
Chief Executive Officer.
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We believe that the ratio presented below is a reasonable estimate calculated in a manner consistent with Item 402(u) of 
Regulation S-K of the SEC’s rules. The SEC’s rules for identifying the median compensated employee and calculating the pay ratio 
based on that employee’s annual total compensation allow companies to adopt a variety of methodologies, apply certain exclusions and 
make reasonable estimates and assumptions that reflect their employee populations and compensation practices. Because other 
companies have different employee populations and compensation practices and may use different methodologies, exclusions, 
estimates and assumptions in calculating their own pay ratios, the pay ratios reported by other companies may not be comparable to 
the pay ratio we have reported below.

We identified our median compensated employee from the 341 full-time and part-time workers who were included as 
employees on our payroll records as of December 31, 2021 based on base salary, bonus, commissions and equity, with conforming 
adjustments for employees who were hired during the year but did not work the full 12 months.

The 2021 annual total compensation as determined under Item 402 of Regulation S-K for our Chief Executive Officer was 
$1,269,416 as reported in the Summary Compensation Table included above. The 2021 annual total compensation as determined 
under Item 402 of Regulation S-K for our median employee, excluding our Chief Executive Officer, was $63,478. The ratio of our 
Chief Executive Officer’s annual total compensation to our median employee’s total annual compensation for fiscal year 2021 is 20 to 
1.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During fiscal 2021, the Compensation Committee was responsible for overseeing executive compensation. The members of 
the Compensation Committee as of December 31, 2021 were David W. Michelson, who served as Compensation Committee Chair, 
Jenifer G. Kimbrough, Thomas A. Rogers, David K. Patterson and Bruce F. Simberg. No member of the Compensation Committee 
was at any time during fiscal 2021 or at any other time an officer or employee of the Company. No member of the Compensation 
Committee had any relationship with the Company requiring disclosure under Item 404 of Regulation S-K of the SEC. No executive 
officer of the Company served on the board of directors or the compensation committee of any other entity that has or has had one or 
more executive officers who served as a member of the Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee of the Company during 
fiscal 2021.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Cash Compensation

The Company’s policy is that only our non-employee directors receive annual cash directors’ fees and reimbursement of 
actual out-of-pocket expenses in connection with their service on the Board. Our Chief Executive Officer does not receive any 
additional compensation for his service on the Board. We ended 2021 with six non-employee directors.

During 2021, the non-employee directors received an annual retainer of $78,750, payable in quarterly installments in January, 
April, and July and October. This annual retainer is in lieu of per-meeting directors’ fees. The chairs of the Board and certain of the 
Board committees receive an additional annual fee for serving as chair, as follows: Board Chair, $42,000; Audit Committee Chair, 
$21,000; Investment Committee Chair, $18,375; and Compensation Committee Chair, $15,000. These annual chair fees are also 
payable in quarterly installments in January, April, July and October.

For 2022, the Board did not receive any increases in the cash annual retainer or chair fees.

Equity Compensation

In addition to the cash annual retainers and chair fees, our non-employee directors receive compensation for their service in 
the form of grants of restricted stock. The Board believes that providing a substantial portion of the non-employee directors’ total 
compensation in the form of equity aligns the directors’ compensation with the interests of the Company’s shareholders. These equity 
grants are at a price per share equal to the greater of book value per share or the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the 
grant date.

In light of the Company’s financial results, the Board elected to forego any grant of restricted stock to its non-employee 
members for 2022. 
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Cash compensation paid to, and the dollar value of equity awards granted to, our non-employee directors in 2021 are shown 
in the table below.

NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS' COMPENSATION SUMMARY

Name

Fees Earned
or Paid in

Cash

Equity
(Restricted

Stock)
Awards (1)

Stock
Option
Awards

(1)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation

Non-Qualified
Deferred

Compensation
Earnings

All Other
Compensation

(2) Total

Jenifer G. Kimbrough $ 99,750 $ 33,600 $ — $ — $ — $ 16,802 $ 150,152 
Thomas A. Rogers  94,500  33,600  —  —  —  16,802  144,902 
Bruce F. Simberg  120,750  25,201  —  —  —  25,201  171,152 
William G. Stewart (3)  48,563  50,402  —  —  —  —  98,965 
Richard W. Wilcox Jr (3)  24,938  25,201  —  —  —  25,201  75,340 
Roberta N. Young  85,641  33,600  —  —  —  16,802  136,043 
David W. Michelson  91,250  33,600  —  —  —  16,802  141,652 
David K. Patterson  78,750  33,600  —  —  —  16,802  129,152 

(1) The following table provides certain additional information concerning the outstanding stock options and/or equity awards 
held by our non-employee directors as of the end of 2021.

(2) Represents the portion of the March 2021 director's annual incentive grants that were paid in cash at the election of the 
director.

(3) Retired from Board during 2021.

Name

Total Stock
Option/Equity

Awards 
Outstanding
at 2021 Fiscal 

Year
End (Shares)

Stock 
Option /

Equity 
Awards
Granted 
During

Fiscal Year 
2021

(Shares)

Grant Date Fair 
Value of

Equity Awards 
Granted

During Fiscal 
Year 2021

($)
Jenifer G. Kimbrough  26,037 (a)  7,257 $ 33,600 (b)
Thomas A. Rogers  12,967 (c)  7,257  33,600 (b)
Bruce F. Simberg  9,222 (d)  5,443  25,201 (b)
William G. Stewart  — (c)  10,886  50,402 (b)
Richard Wilcox  — (d)  5,443  25,201 (b)
Roberta N. Young  15,423 (e)  7,257  33,600 (b)
David W. Michelson  15,756 (f)  7,257  33,600 (b)
David K. Patterson  15,756 (f)  7,257  33,600 (b)

(a) Includes 15,000 fully vested options granted on April 6, 2012 with an exercise price of $4.40 and an expiration date of 
April 6, 2022; 1,850 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 6, 
2020, 1930 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 6, 2021 and 
7,257 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 31, 2022. 

(b) Based on the market value per share of $8.50 on March 31, 2021.
(c) Includes 1,849 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 6, 2020, 

3,861 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 6, 2021 and 7,257 
shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 31, 2022. William 
Stewart retired from Board during 2021.

(d) Includes 1,849 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 6, 2020, 
1,930 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 6, 2021 and 5,443 
shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 31, 2022. Richard 
Wilcox retired from Board during 2021.
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(e) Includes 2,456 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over five years with an initial vest date of March 16, 2019, 
1,849 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 6, 2020, 3,861 
shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 6, 2021 and 7,257 
shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 31, 2022.

(f) Includes 3,861 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 6, 2021, 
4,638 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over five years with an initial vest date of March 6, 2021 and 7,257 
shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 31, 2022.

Director Stock Ownership and Retention Guidelines

The Board approved stock ownership and retention guidelines applicable to our directors. Under these guidelines, our 
outside, non-employee directors are each required to hold shares of the Company’s common stock with a value of at least four times 
the annual retainer. The guidelines further provide that the outside directors should achieve the guideline amounts within five years of 
the policy’s adoption and, until the guideline amounts are achieved, our directors must retain 66-2/3% of any shares received as equity 
grants from the Company, net of share withheld or sold to pay taxes. The Board also prohibited hedging the Company’s common 
stock and prohibited pledging the Company’s common stock except in limited circumstances as approved by the Board. Prior to the 
recent decline in the Company's share price, all of our directors beyond the five-year transition period were in compliance with these 
guidelines. 

ITEM 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 

The following table sets forth, as of April 25, 2022, information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common 
stock by (i) each person who is known by us to beneficially own 5% or more of our outstanding common stock, (ii) each of our 
executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table in the section “Executive Compensation,” (iii) each of our directors, 
and (iv) all directors and executive officers as a group.

As used herein, the term beneficial ownership with respect to a security is defined by Rule 13d-3 under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”) as consisting of sole or shared voting power (including the power to vote or 
direct the vote) and/or sole or shared investment power (including the power to dispose or direct the disposition of) with respect to 
the shares through any contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship or otherwise, including a right to acquire such power(s) 
during the next 60 days. Unless otherwise noted, beneficial ownership consists of sole ownership, voting and investment rights, and 
the address for each person is c/o FedNat Holding Company, 14050 N.W. 14th Street, Suite 180, Sunrise, Florida 33323.
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Name and Address of Beneficial Owner (1)

Number of Shares
Beneficially Owned

Percent of Class
Outstanding (1)

Michael H. Braun (2)  610,077  3.42 %
Bruce F. Simberg (3)  522,991  2.94 %
Ronald A. Jordan (4)  53,311 *
Thomas A. Rogers (5)  36,058 *
Jenifer G. Kimbrough (6)  36,045 *
Roberta N. Young (7)  30,035 *
David W. Michelson (8)  19,851 *
David K. Patterson (8)  19,851 *
All directors and executive officers as a group (8 persons) (9)  1,328,219  7.45 %

5% or greater holders:    

Hale Partnership Capital Management, LLC (10)
Hale Partnership Capital Advisors, LLC
Hale Partnership Fund, L.P.
Steven A. Hale II
2115 E. 7th Street
Charlotte, NC 282204

 2,008,294  11.27 %

Lenox Capital Management, Inc. (11)
Douglas Ruth
322 Alana Drive
New Lenox, IL 60451

 1,315,243  7.38 %

* Less than 1%.

(1) Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner listed is c/o FedNat Holding Company, 14050 N.W. 14th 
Street, Suite 180, Sunrise, Florida 33323. For the Company’s executive officers, directors and director nominees, the 
percentage of class outstanding is based on 17,797,316 shares outstanding as of April 25, 2022. For all other shareholders, the 
percentage of class outstanding is as reported in the shareholder’s Schedule 13G/A or 13D/A, as applicable.

(2) Includes 19,323 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years based on performance with an initial vest 
date of March 10, 2021, 30,000 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over five years with an initial vest date of 
March 6, 2021, and 72,575 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years based on performance with an 
initial vest date of March 31, 2022.

(3) Includes 965 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 6, 2021, and 
3,629 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 31, 2022. 

(4) Includes 2,000 restricted shares, which began vesting over five years with an initial vest date of May 12, 2018, 2,219 shares of 
restricted stock, which began vesting over five years with an initial vest date of March 6, 2020, 5,410 shares of restricted 
stock, which began vesting over three years based on performance with an initial vest date of March 6, 2021, 1,738 shares of 
restricted stock, which began vesting over five years with an initial vest date of March 6, 2021, 25,401 shares of restricted 
stock, which began vesting over three years based on performance with an initial vest date of March 31, 2022, 2,000 shares of 
restricted stock, which began vesting over five years with an initial vest date of March 31, 2022 and 10,000 shares of restricted 
stock, which begin vesting over 5 years with an initial vest date of April 26, 2023. 

(5) Includes 1,930 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 6, 2021 and 
4,838 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 31, 2022. 

(6) Includes 965 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 6, 2021, and 
4,838 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 31, 2022.

(7) Includes 1,228 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over five years with an initial vest date of March 16, 2019, 
1,930 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 6, 2021, and 4,838 
shares of restricted stock , which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 31, 2022.
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(8) Includes 3,478 shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over five years with an initial vest date of March 6, 2021, 1,930 
shares of restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 6, 2021, and 4,838 shares of 
restricted stock, which began vesting over three years with an initial vest date of March 31, 2022. 

(9) Includes 206,319 shares of unvested restricted stock, which are detailed above.

(10) This information is based on the Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on August 11, 2021. Each of Hale Partnership Capital 
Management, LLC, Hale Partnership Capital Advisors, LLC, Hale Partnership Fund, L.P. and Steven A. Hale II beneficially 
own more than 5% of our outstanding common stock. The group also includes Clark - Hale Fund, L.P., MGEN II - Hale 
Fund, L.P., Smith - Hale Fund, L.P., and Dickinson - Hale Fund, L.P., each of which individually is a beneficial owner of less 
than 5% of our outstanding common stock.

(11) This information is based on the Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 2, 2022. Represents amounts held directly 
by Douglas Ruth and which he has shared power to vote through Lenox Capital Management, Inc.

ITEM 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

Family Relationships

There are no family relationships between or among our executive officers and directors.

Related Transactions

The following is a summary of transactions since the beginning of the 2021 fiscal year between the Company and its 
executive officers, directors, nominees for director, principal shareholders and other related parties involving amounts in excess of 
$120,000 or that the Company has chosen to voluntarily disclose.

During 2021, the brother of Michael H. Braun, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and President, received $161,542 for 
his services in 2021 as Director of Budgets and Forecasts. We believe that the compensation provided to this individual is comparable 
to that paid by other companies in our industry and market for similar positions.

Beginning in August 2021, the Strategic Review Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors has enlisted the assistance 
of Steven Hale, the Company’s largest shareholder, as an advisor to the Committee.  Mr. Hale has not received any compensation 
from the Company for these services.  By letter agreement dated February 4, 2022, the Company agreed to reimburse Mr. Hale for his 
reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses under certain circumstances.

We have adopted a written policy that any transactions between the Company and executive officers, directors, principal 
shareholders or their affiliates take place on an arm’s-length basis and require the approval of a majority of our independent directors, 
as defined in the Nasdaq Rules.

The Board has determined that the following directors and director nominees are independent pursuant to the Nasdaq Rules 
applicable to the Company: Bruce F. Simberg, Jenifer G. Kimbrough, Thomas A. Rogers, Roberta N. Young, David W. Michelson, 
and David K. Patterson. 

ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES 

The Audit Committee, which is responsible for the appointment, compensation and oversight of our independent auditors, 
has engaged Ernst & Young LLP (“E&Y”) as independent auditors to audit our consolidated financial statements for the year ending 
December 31, 2022. 

Our Audit Committee requires that management obtain the prior approval of the Audit Committee for all audit and 
permissible non-audited services to be provided by E&Y. The Audit Committee considers and approves at each meeting, as needed, 
anticipated audit and permissible non-audit services to be provided by E&Y during the year and estimated fees. The Audit Committee 
Chair may approve permissible non-audit services with subsequent notification to the full Audit Committee. All services rendered to 
us by E&Y in 2021 were pre-approved in accordance with these procedures.
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The Company’s independent auditors for the 2021 fiscal year, E&Y, has advised the Company that neither it, nor any of its 
members, has any direct financial interest in the Company as a promoter, underwriter, voting trustee, director, officer or employee. All 
professional services rendered by E&Y during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 were furnished at customary rates and were 
performed by full-time, permanent employees.

The following table shows fees that we paid (or accrued) for professional services rendered by E&Y for fiscal 2021 and 2020. 
Audit fees increased in 2021 as a result of fluctuations in the out of scope fees during the periods.

  Year Ended December 31,
  2021 2020
Audit Fees (1) $ 1,617,044 $ 1,520,700 
Audit-Related Fees (2)  —  — 
Tax fees (3)  200,000  283,154 

Total $ 1,817,044 $ 1,803,854 

(1) Audit fees consisted of audit work performed in the preparation of financial statements, as well as work generally only the 
independent auditor can reasonably be expected to provide, such as statutory audits.

(2) Audit-related fees consist of fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the 
audit or review of our consolidated financial statements and are not reported under “Audit Fees.”

(3) Tax fees consist of fees billed for professional services rendered for tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning. These services 
include assistance regarding federal, state, and international tax compliance, acquisitions and international tax planning.
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PART IV

ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
͏    
  (a) The following documents are filed as part of this report.

͏    
͏ (1) Financial Statements

͏    
͏   The following consolidated financial statements of the Company and the reports of our independent 

registered public accounting firm thereon are filed with this report:

͏    
͏   Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

͏    
͏   Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020

͏    
͏   Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

͏    
͏   Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 

2019.

͏    
͏   Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

͏    
͏   Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

͏    
͏   Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

͏    
͏ (2) Financial Statement Schedules.

͏    
͏   The following are included herein under Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data:

͏    
͏   Schedule II, Condensed Financial Information of Registrant

͏    
͏   Schedule V, Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

͏    
͏   Schedule VI, Supplemental Information Concerning Insurance Operations

͏    
͏ (3) Exhibits.
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EXHIBIT INDEX 

Exhibit 
Number Exhibit Description Incorporated by Reference

Filed 
Herewith

Form Exhibit Filing Date

3.1
Second Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended, 
of FedNat Holding Company 10-Q 3.1 August 9, 2021

3.2
Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of FedNat 
Holding Company 10-Q 3.2 November 7, 2018

4.1 Description of Registrant's Securities 10-K April 25, 2022

4.2 Form of Senior Indenture

S-3
File No. 333-257983

4.2 July 16, 2021

4.3 Form of Subordinated Indenture
S-3

File No. 333-257983 4.3 July 16, 2021

4.4

Indenture dated March 5, 2019 between FedNat 
Holding Company and The Bank of New York Mellon, 
as Trustee, Paying Agent, and Registrar 8-K 4.1 March 6, 2019

4.5

First Supplemental Indenture by and between FedNat 
Holding Company and The Bank of New York Mellon, 
as trustee 8-K 4.1 March 5, 2020

4.6

Second Supplemental Indenture dated April 19, 2021 
between FedNat Holding Company and The Bank of 
New York Mellon, as Trustee 8-K 4.1 April 21, 2021

4.7

Indenture dated April 19, 2021 between FedNat 
Holding Company and The Bank of New York Mellon, 
as Trustee, Paying Agent, and Registrar 8-K 4.2 April 21, 2021

4.8
Form of Convertible Senior Unsecured Note due 2026 
of FedNat Holding Company 8-K 4.3 April 21, 2021

4.9

Form of Registration Rights Agreement dated April 19, 
2021 between FedNat Holding Company and the 
Purchasers of Convertible Senior Unsecured Notes due 
2026 8-K 10.1 April 21, 2021

4.1
Form of 7.50% Senior Unsecured Note due 2029 of 
FedNat Holding Company S-4 4.5 January 16, 2020

10.1*

Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance Contract effective 
March 2, 2021 by and among FedNat Insurance 
Company, Monarch National Insurance Company, 
Maison Insurance Company and subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.1 May 6, 2021

10.2*

Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance Contract effective 
March 1, 2021 by and among FedNat Insurance 
Company, Monarch National Insurance Company, 
Maison Insurance Company and subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.2 May 6, 2021

10.3*

Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance Contract effective 
March 1, 2021 by and among FedNat Insurance 
Company, Monarch National Insurance Company, 
Maison Insurance Company and subscribing reinsurers* 10-Q 10.3 May 6, 2021

10.4*

Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance Contract effective 
March 1, 2021 by and among FedNat Insurance 
Company, Monarch National Insurance Company, 
Maison Insurance Company and subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.4 May 6, 2021

10.5*

Property Aggregate Excess of Loss Reinsurance 
Contract effective January 1, 2021 by and between 
Maison Insurance Company and subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.5 May 6, 2021

10.6*

Property Aggregate Excess of Loss Reinsurance 
Contract effective January 1, 2021 by and between 
Maison Insurance Company and subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.6 May 6, 2021
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10.7*

Property Aggregate Excess of Loss Reinsurance 
Contract effective January 1, 2021 by and 
between Maison Insurance Company and 
subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.7 May 6, 2021

10.8*

Property Aggregate Excess of Loss Reinsurance 
Contract effective January 1, 2021 by and between 
Maison Insurance Company and subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.8 May 6, 2021

10.9*

First-Third Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance Contract 
effective July 1, 2021 by and among FedNat Insurance 
Company, Monarch National Insurance Company, 
Maison Insurance Company and subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.1 November 9, 2021

10.10*

Main Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance Contract effective 
July 1, 2021 by and among FedNat Insurance Company, 
Monarch National Insurance Company, Maison 
Insurance Company and subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.2 November 9, 2021

10.11*

Main Reinstatement Premium Protection Reinsurance 
Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and among FedNat 
Insurance Company, Monarch National Insurance 
Company, Maison Insurance Company and subscribing 
reinsurers 10-Q 10.3 November 9, 2021

10.12*

Third-Fourth Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance Contract 
effective July 1, 2021 by and among FedNat Insurance 
Company, Monarch National Insurance Company, 
Maison Insurance Company and subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.4 November 9, 2021

10.13*

Cascading Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance Contract 
effective July 1, 2021 by and among FedNat Insurance 
Company, Monarch National Insurance Company, 
Maison Insurance Company and subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.5 November 9, 2021

10.14*

Fourth-Fifth Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance Contract 
effective July 1, 2021 by and among FedNat Insurance 
Company, Monarch National Insurance Company, 
Maison Insurance Company and subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.6 November 9, 2021

10.15*

Second-Fifth Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance Contract 
effective July 1, 2021 by and among FedNat Insurance 
Company, Monarch National Insurance Company, 
Maison Insurance Company and subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.7 November 9, 2021

10.16*

Third and Fifth Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance 
Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and among FedNat 
Insurance Company, Monarch National Insurance 
Company, Maison Insurance Company and subscribing 
reinsurers 10-Q 10.8 November 9, 2021

10.17*

Main Sixth Layer Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance 
Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and among FedNat 
Insurance Company, Monarch National Insurance 
Company, Maison Insurance Company and subscribing 
reinsurers 10-Q 10.9 November 9, 2021

10.18*

Fourth-Fifth Reinstatement Premium Protection 
Reinsurance Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and 
among FedNat Insurance Company, Monarch National 
Insurance Company, Maison Insurance Company and 
subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.10 November 9, 2021

10.19*

Second Reinstatement Premium Protection Reinsurance 
Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and among FedNat 
Insurance Company, Monarch National Insurance 
Company, Maison Insurance Company and subscribing 
reinsurers 10-Q 10.11 November 9, 2021

10.20*

Third Reinstatement Premium Protection Reinsurance 
Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and among FedNat 
Insurance Company, Monarch National Insurance 
Company, Maison Insurance Company and subscribing 
reinsurers 10-Q 10.12 November 9, 2021
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10.21*

Private Reinstatement Premium Protection Reinsurance 
Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and among FedNat 
Insurance Company, Monarch National Insurance 
Company, Maison Insurance Company and subscribing 
reinsurers 10-Q 10.13 November 9, 2021

10.22*

Main Sixth Layer Reinstatement Premium Protection 
Reinsurance Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and 
among FedNat Insurance Company, Monarch National 
Insurance Company, Maison Insurance Company and 
subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.14 November 9, 2021

10.23*

Private Sixth Layer Reinstatement Premium Protection 
Reinsurance Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and 
among FedNat Insurance Company, Monarch National 
Insurance Company, Maison Insurance Company and 
subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.15 November 9, 2021

10.24*

Main Top Layer Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance 
Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and among FedNat 
Insurance Company, Monarch National Insurance 
Company, Maison Insurance Company and subscribing 
reinsurers 10-Q 10.16 November 9, 2021

10.25*

Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance Contract effective July 
1, 2021, by and among FedNat Insurance Company, 
Monarch National Insurance Company, Maison 
Insurance Company and subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.17 November 9, 2021

10.26*

Reinstatement Premium Protection Reinsurance 
Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and among FedNat 
Insurance Company, Monarch National Insurance 
Company, Maison Insurance Company and subscribing 
reinsurers 10-Q 10.18 November 9, 2021

10.27*

Sixth Layer Reinstatement Premium Protection 
Reinsurance Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and 
among FedNat Insurance Company, Monarch National 
Insurance Company, Maison Insurance Company and 
subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.19 November 9, 2021

10.28*

Sixth Layer Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance Contract 
effective July 1, 2021 by and among FedNat Insurance 
Company, Monarch National Insurance Company, 
Maison Insurance Company and subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.20 November 9, 2021

10.29*

First Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance Contract effective 
June 1, 2021 by and among FedNat Insurance 
Company, Monarch National Insurance Company, 
Maison Insurance Company and subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.21 November 9, 2021

10.30*

Private Top Layer Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance 
Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and among FedNat 
Insurance Company, Monarch National Insurance 
Company, Maison Insurance Company and subscribing 
reinsurers 10-Q 10.22 November 9, 2021

10.31*

Top Layer Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance Contract 
effective July 1, 2021 by and among FedNat Insurance 
Company, Monarch National Insurance Company, 
Maison Insurance Company and subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.23 November 9, 2021

10.32*

Main Non-Florida Property Catastrophe Excess of Loss 
Reinsurance Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and 
between FedNat Insurance Company and subscribing 
reinsurers 10-Q 10.24 November 9, 2021

10.33*

First-Third Non-Florida Property Catastrophe Excess of 
Loss Reinsurance Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and 
between FedNat Insurance Company and subscribing 
reinsurers 10-Q 10.25 November 9, 2021

10.34*

Private Non-Florida Property Catastrophe Excess of 
Loss Reinsurance Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and 
between FedNat Insurance Company and subscribing 
reinsurers 10-Q 10.26 November 9, 2021
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10.35*

Main Non-Florida Reinstatement Premium Protection 
Reinsurance Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and 
between FedNat Insurance Company and subscribing 
reinsurers 10-Q 10.27 November 9, 2021

10.36*

Main Fourth Layer Non-Florida Property Catastrophe 
Excess of Loss Reinsurance Contract effective July 1, 
2021 by and between FedNat Insurance Company and 
subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.28 November 9, 2021

10.37*

Main Fourth Layer Non-Florida Property Catastrophe 
Excess of Loss Reinsurance Contract effective July 1, 
2021 by and between FedNat Insurance Company and 
subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.29 November 9, 2021

10.38*

Main Fourth Layer Non-Florida Reinstatement 
Premium Protection Reinsurance Contract effective July 
1, 2021 by and between FedNat Insurance Company 
and subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.30 November 9, 2021

10.39*

First Non-Florida Property Catastrophe Excess of Loss 
Reinsurance Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and 
between FedNat Insurance Company and subscribing 
reinsurers 10-Q 10.31 November 9, 2021

10.40*

Non-Florida Property Catastrophe Excess of Loss 
Reinsurance Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and 
between FedNat Insurance Company and subscribing 
reinsurers 10-Q 10.32 November 9, 2021

10.41*

Non-Florida Reinstatement Premium Protection 
Reinsurance Contract effective July 1, 2021 by and 
between FedNat Insurance Company and subscribing 
reinsurers 10-Q 10.33 November 9, 2021

10.42*

Non-Florida Second Event Property Catastrophe 
Excess of Loss Reinsurance Contract effective July 1, 
2021 by and between FedNat Insurance Company and 
subscribing reinsurers 10-Q 10.34 November 9, 2021

10.43*

Net Quota Share Reinsurance Agreement effective July 
1, 2021 by and between FedNat Insurance Company 
and Swiss Reinsurance America Corporation 10-Q 10.35 November 9, 2021

10.44*

Excess Catastrophe Reinsurance One-Month Extension 
Contract effective June 1, 2021 by and among FedNat 
Insurance Company, Monarch National Insurance 
Company, Maison Insurance Company and subscribing 
reinsurers 10-Q 10.36 November 9, 2021

10.45*

Commutation Agreement dated April 22, 2021 between 
FedNat Holding Company and SageSure Anchor Re, 
Inc. 10-Q 10.2 August 9, 2021

10.46*

Administrator Agreement, effective July 1, 2013, 
between Federated National Insurance Company and 
SageSure Insurance Managers LLC, as amended 10-K 10.9 March 6, 2020

10.46.A*

Sixth Amendment, entered into November 4, 2020, to 
Administrator Agreement, effective July 1, 2013, 
between Federated National Insurance Company and 
SageSure Insurance Managers LLC, as amended 10-K 10.34.A March 29, 2021

10.47

Administrative Services Agreement dated November 1, 
2015 between FedNat Underwriters Inc. and SageSure 
Insurance Managers LLC 10-K 10.10 March 6, 2020

10.48.A

Insurance Agency Master Agreement dated February 4, 
2013 between Ivantage Select Agency, Inc. and 
Federated National Underwriters, Inc. 10-Q 10.5 November 6, 2013

10.48.B

First Amendment to Insurance Agency Master 
Agreement dated February 12, 2013 between Ivantage 
Select Agency, Inc. and Federated National 
Underwriters, Inc. 10-Q 10.6 November 6, 2013

10.48.C

Second Amendment to Insurance Agency Master 
Agreement dated February 12, 2013 between Ivantage 
Select Agency, Inc. and Federated National 
Underwriters, Inc. 10-Q 10.6 May 11, 2015

10.48.D*

Third Amendment to Insurance Agency Master 
Agreement dated August 10, 2018 between Ivantage 
Select Agency, Inc. and FedNat Underwriters, Inc. 10-K 10.14 March 6, 2020
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10.49+

Confidential Information, Non-Solicitation and Non-
Competition Agreement dated as of April 17, 2017 
between the Company and Ronald Jordan 10-Q 10.3 May 10, 2017

10.50+ 2018 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan DEF 14A Annex B April 13, 2018

10.51+
Form of Restricted Stock Grant Summary of the 
Company (Time-Based Vesting) 8-K 99.2 January 14, 2019

10.52+
Form of Restricted Stock Grant Summary Agreement of 
the Company (Performance-Based Vesting) 8-K 99.3 January 14, 2019

10.53+
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the 
Company and its directors and executive officers 10-K 10.14 March 17, 2008

10.54+

Form of Amended and Restated Non-Competition, 
Non-Disclosure and Non-Solicitation Agreement 
between the Company and certain employees of the 
Company 8-K 10.1 August 7, 2013

10.55+

Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement 
dated January 18, 2012 between the Company and 
Michael H. Braun 8-K 10.1 January 20, 2012

10.56+

Amendment to Employment Agreement and Restrictive 
Covenant Agreement effective as of March 17, 2015 
between Monarch Delaware Holdings LLC and Michael 
H. Braun 10-Q 10.3 May 11, 2015

10.57+

Non-Competition, Non-Disclosure and Non-
Solicitation Agreement effective as of March 17, 2015 
between Monarch Delaware Holdings LLC and Michael 
H. Braun 10-Q 10.4 May 11, 2015

10.58.A+
Employment Agreement dated January 8, 2019 between 
the Company and Ronald A. Jordan 8-K 99.1 January 14, 2019

10.58.B+

First Amendment dated November 4, 2020 to 
Employment Agreement dated January 8, 2019 between 
the Company and Ronald A. Jordan 10-K 10.47.B March 29, 2021

10.59

Standstill Agreement dated December 2, 2019 between 
FedNat Holding Company and 1347 Property Insurance 
Holdings, Inc. 8-K 10.2 December 2, 2019

10.60

Reinsurance Capacity Right of First Refusal Agreement 
dated December 2, 2019 between FedNat Holding 
Company and 1347 Property Insurance Holdings, Inc. 8-K 10.3 December 2, 2019

10.61

Investment Advisory Agreement dated December 2, 
2019 between Fundamental Global Advisors LLC and 
FedNat Holding Company 8-K 10.4 December 2, 2019

10.62

Consent Order dated August 7, 2019 among the Florida 
Office of Insurance Regulation, FedNat Holding 
Company, 1347 Property Insurance Holdings, Inc., and 
Maison Insurance Company. 8-K 10.1 August 13, 2019

10.63

Consent Agreement dated August 9, 2019 among the 
Louisiana Department of Insurance, FedNat Holding 
Company and Maison Insurance Company. 8-K 10.2 August 13, 2019

10.64

Consent Order dated April 21, 2022 among FedNat 
Insurance Company, Maison Insurance Company, 
Monarch National Insurance Company and the Florida 
Office of Insurance Regulation 10-K April 25, 2022

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Company 10-K April 25, 2022

23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting 
Firm 10-K April 25, 2022

31.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 10-K April 25, 2022

31.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 10-K April 25, 2022

31.3
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act X

31.4
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act X

32.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 10-K April 25, 2022
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101.INS** Inline XBRL Instance Document. X

101.SCH** Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. X

101.CAL**
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase 
Document. X

101.DEF**
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase 
Document X

101.LAB**
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase 
Document. X

101.PRE**
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation 
Linkbase Document. X

104
Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted in Inline 
XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101) X

____________________
+   Indicates a Management Compensation Plan or Arrangement
*    Portions of this exhibit have been omitted from this exhibit in accordance with and as permitted by Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K.
**  In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, these interactive data files are deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, 
or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, and shall not be part of any registration statement or other document filed under the Securities Act 
or Exchange Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this 
Amendment No.1 on Form 10-K/A to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereto duly authorized.

  FEDNAT HOLDING COMPANY  
       
  By: /s/ Michael H. Braun  
    Michael H. Braun, Chief Executive Officer  
    (Principal Executive Officer)  

       
  By: /s/ Ronald A. Jordan  
    Ronald A. Jordan, Chief Financial Officer  
    (Principal Executive Officer)  

Date: May 2, 2022 
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